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1. INTRODUCTION  

 
а) General Information 

 
SPARKASE BANKA MAKEDONIJA AD Skopje (hereinafter referred to as “the Bank”) is a Joint Stock 
Company incorporated in the Republic of Macedonia. Its registered seat is located on Macedonia Street 
No 9 - 11 Skopje, Republic of Macedonia. 
 
The Bank is licensed by the National Bank of Macedonia for performing the following activities: 
 
- Collecting deposits and other recurrent sources of funds; 
- Financing in the country and abroad, including factoring and financing commercial transactions; 
- Issuance and administration of payment instruments (cards, cheques, bills of exchange); 
- Financial leasing; 
- Foreign exchange operations; 
- Domestic and international payment operations, including purchase/sale of foreign currency funds; 
- Issuing payment guarantees, backing guarantees and other forms of security; 
- Providing services of renting safe deposit boxes, depositories and depot; 
- Trading in instruments at the money market; 
- Foreign exchange operations (including commodities trading); 
- Trading in securities and financial derivatives; 
- Custody of clients’ securities; 
- Giving advices to legal entities in relation to the structure of capital, business strategy or other 

related issues, or providing services related to merging or acquisition of legal entities,  
- Intermediating in selling insurance policies; 
- Intermediating in concluding agreements for loans and borrowings; 
- Data collection and analysis of companies’ credit rating; 
- Economic and financial consulting. 
 
The total number of employees in the Bank as of December 31, 2015 is 298 employees (2014: 302 
employees). The Bank performs its activities in the Republic of Macedonia through a network of 27 
branches (2014: 25 branches). 
 
The Bank is a member of Steiermärkische SPARKASE seated in Graz, Austria, owing 99.74% (2014: 
99.74%) of the Bank capital. 
 
The Bank owns 10% of the capital of C-Leasing DOO Skopje, i.e. 10% participation in the total number 
of voting shares. 
The shares of the Bank are listed on the Official market of Macedonian Stock Exchange on the market of 
Exchange listing and the ID quotation code is the following: 
 

Symbol ISIN code 
  

INB (common shares) MKINBA101012 
 
The Bank’s financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2015, have been approved by the 
management of the Bank on January 30, 2016 and adopted by the Bank’s Supervisory Board on 
February 29, 2016. 
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1. INTRODUCTION (Continued) 

 
b) Basis of Preparation of the Financial Statements  

 
Accounting Standards 

 
These financial statements of the Bank (unconsolidated) were prepared in accordance with the 
Company Law, Banking Law (Official Gazette of the Republic of Macedonia No  67/07, 90/09, 67/10, 
26/13, 15/15 and 153/15) by laws stipulated by the National Bank of the Republic of Macedonia 
(hereinafter referred to as “the NBRM”) as well as pursuant to Decision on the Methodology for 
Recording and Evaluating Accounting Entries and for Preparation of Financial Statements (Official 
Gazette of the Republic of Macedonia No 169/2010, 165/12, 50/13 and 110/13), taking effect as of 1 
January 2011, Decision on Types and Contents of Banks’ Financial Statements (Official Gazette of the 
Republic of Macedonia No 169/10, 152/11, 54/12 and 166/13) taking effect as of 31 December 2011 
and the Regulation of the National Bank of the Republic of Macedonia. 
 
Standards in Issue not yet Adopted 

At the date of authorization of these financial statements by the Board of Directors, there were no 
standards in issue but not yet effective. 
 
Presentation of Financial Statements  
 

The accompanying financial statements of the Bank have been presented in accordance with the 
Decision on the types and content of financial statements of banks („Official Gazette of the Republic of 
Macedonia“no. 169/10, 152/11, 54/12 and 166/13), which in certain aspects differ from the presentation 
of certain positions in the financial statements in accordance with the requirements of the International 
Accounting Standard (IAS) 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements. 

 
The Bank’s Management estimates the influence of the changes in IAS, the new IFRS and their 
interpretation on the financial statements, as well as the requirements on the form and contents in 
accordance with the Guidelines and valuation of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses in 
accordance with the Methodology. As a result, the Bank’s management does not express an explicit and 
definite statement of compliance of the financial statements with IAS and IFRS, which are applicable in 
the accounting period of the accompanying financial statements. 

 

In addition to the aforementioned, the accounting regulations of the Republic of Macedonia depart from 
the requirements of IFRS and IAS, in the following material aspects of financial reporting: 
 
- The Bank’s management estimates allowances for the impairment of financial instruments in 
accordance with the relevant National Bank of Macedonia Regulations (Note 1.c). Such a policy may 
result in significant departures from the amounts which would be determined, if the allowances for the 
impairment of financial instruments were estimated based on the requirements of IAS 39, “Financial 
Instruments:  Recognition and Measurement”. 
 
- The Bank may subsequently measure the carrying amount of the property and equipment only under 
the cost model. Under IAS 16 “Property, plant and equipment” the Bank can subsequently measure 
property and equipment by applying of the cost model, or the revaluation model. 

 

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost 
principle, except for the valuation of investments in financial assets held-for-sale which have been stated 
at fair value, and other financial assets and liabilities which have been stated at fair value through profit 
and loss under the going concern assumption. 
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1. INTRODUCTION (Continued) 

 
b) Basis of Preparation of the Financial Statements (Continued) 
 

Presentation of Financial Statements  (Continued) 

 
The presentation of the financial statements in accordance with the accounting standards applicable in 
the Republic of Macedonia requires the use of best estimates and reasonable assumptions by the 
Bank’s management, which affects the presented values of assets and liabilities, and the revenues and 
expenses in the reporting period. These estimates and assumptions are based on historical experience 
and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of 
which form the basis for estimation of the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for which no other 
data is available. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
 
The presented financial statements are expressed in thousands of Denars (MKD). The Denar 
represents the functional and reporting currency of the Bank for the purpose of reporting to NBRM. 
 
Application of Evaluations and Assessments 

 
The preparation of the unconsolidated financial statements is in compliance with the generally accepted 
accounting policies and requires for application of assessments and assumptions which affect the 
assets and liabilities presented, and potential assets and liabilities on the date of the financial 
statements and the amounts in the presented income and expenses during the reporting period. These 
evaluations are assessed on continuous basis and are grounded on the best knowledge of the 
Management related to the current event and activities as well as on the previous experiences. 
 
Impairment losses on loans and receivables 

 
The Bank reviews the credit and accounts receivable portfolio to assess the impairments on monthly 
base. When determining whether an impairment loss is to be presented in the Income Statement, the 
Bank rationalizes whether noticeable data exist which imply that there is a measurable decrease in the 
estimated future cash flow from some credit portfolio before the possibility to identify that decrease by 
individual loan in the portfolio. This evidence may include noticeable data implying that unfavorable 
change exists in the payment to the Bank by the borrowers, or in state or local economic conditions 
related to the failure to execute the obligations in the Bank assets.  
 
Management uses assessments based on experience of historically recorded impairment losses on 
assets exposed to credit risk and objective evidence similar to those in the portfolio when projecting the 
future cash flow. The Methodology and assumptions used for assessment of the amount and time of 
future cash flows are reviewed for audit on regular basis to reduce any inconsistence between assessed 
losses and really incurred losses. 
 
Impairment Loss of Foreclosed Assets 
 
Impairment loss calculation process requires for making important and complex assumptions related to 
the planned sales period of the foreclosed assets, their estimated net sales values and adequate 
discount rate, in order to reduce the net present value to the anticipated future cash flow from sales of 
certain items of the repossessed immovable.   
 
The Bank Management expects that the foreclosed assets are sold within reasonable time frame without 
any losses. Otherwise, adjustments will be made in the future periods if the market activity indicates that 
such adjustments are appropriate. 
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1. INTRODUCTION (Continued) 

 
b) Basis of Preparation of the Financial Statements (Continued) 
 

Presentation of Financial Statements  (Continued) 

 
Application of Evaluations and Assessments (Continued) 

 
Off-balance Records 
 
The Bank undertakes liabilities within its business activities based on loans recorded at off-balance 
sheet accounts, which primarily includes letters of guarantee and letters of credit. These financial 
liabilities are recorded in the Balance Sheet once they are returned. Impairment provision related to off-
balance potentials and assumed liabilities have been presented within the “Impairment of Financial 
Assets” section of this Note, and are entered in the Balance Sheet as a liability. 
 
Fair Value of Financial Instruments 
 
Fair value is the amount that may replace certain asset, or settle certain liability under market 
conditions.  Detailed information on the fair value of the financial instruments is given in Note 5. 
 
The estimates and assumptions are reviewed on a continuing basis. The revised accounting estimates 
are recognized in the period for which the estimate has been revised if it affects only that period, or in 
the period of the estimate and subsequent periods if the revised estimate affects both periods – the 
current and subsequent period. 
 
Information regarding the significant areas for which there is uncertainty based on estimates and critical 
judgments in the implementation of the accounting policies with the most significant impact on the 
amounts disclosed in the financial statements is presented in Note 1 d). 
 
The Bank’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies 
disclosed in Note 1 c) to the financial statements. 
 

c) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

 
The basic accounting policies used in the preparation of the financial statements are shown below. 
These policies are consistently applied to all years presented, unless otherwise indicated.. 
 
Foreign Currency Transactions 

 

Foreign currency transactions are expressed in MKD by applying official rates of the National Bank of 
the Republic of Macedonia valid on the date of their incurrence. 
 
Foreign currency assets and liabilities are expressed in MKD by applying official rates valid on the date 
of drafting the Balance Sheet, while all foreign exchange gains and losses arising from the foreign 
currency exchange are included in the Income Statement in the period they have been incurred. 
Average foreign exchange rates applied for presenting the items in the Balance Sheet denominated in 
foreign currency are as follows: 
 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 
1 EUR MKD 61,5947  MKD 61,4814  
1 USD MKD 56,3744  MKD 50,5604  
1 CHF MKD 56,9583  MKD 51,1152  
 
Netting  

 
Financial assets and liabilities are netted and presented in the Balance Sheet at net base in cases 
where netting of recognized amounts has legally been allowed, and moreover when there is an intention 
of net settlement, as well as in cases of simultaneous realization of the assets and settling of the liability 

.  
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1. INTRODUCTION (Continued) 
 
c) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 

Comparatives   

 
Where necessary comparative data have been changed in the current year presentation for the purpose 
of their adjustment with the modification. 
 
Interest Income and Expenses 

 
Interest income and expenses are recognized in the Income Statement for all interest-bearing financial 
assets and liabilities by applying the Effective Interest Method. 
 
Effective Interest Method is a method of measuring financial assets and liabilities by depreciated 
purchase price and allocation of income assets and liabilities in the period of expected maturity of the 
financial instruments. 
 
Effective interest rate is a rate by application of which, the present value of all future cash inflows is 
leveled to the present value of all future cash outflows in the expected life of the financial instrument. 
When calculating the effective interest rate, the Bank assesses the cash flow, taking into consideration 
all contractual terms and conditions of the financial instrument (for example, advance payment options) 
other than future credit losses. The calculation includes charged or paid considerations between the 
contracting parties, which are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other 
premiums or discounts. 
 
Fee and Commission Income 

 
Fee and commission income mainly consists of financial services provided by the Bank including issue 
of letters of guarantee, opening letters of credit, payment operations in the country or abroad and other 
services. 
 
Fee and commission income is recorded on an accrual basis when the service has been provided. 
 
Dividend Income 
 

Dividends are recognized in the Income Statement as soon as the right to receive payment is granted 
when the inflow of economic benefits is probable. 
 
Net Trade Income 

 
Net trade income is realized and unrealized changes in the fair value during successive measurement, 
profit or loss on disposal, dividends, interest income and expenses from trading assets and liabilities and 
derivatives. 
 
Net trade income is measured at the change of fair value of the financial assets and liabilities held for 
trading, which is a difference between the book and fair values on the date of the Balance Sheet. 
 
Net Trading Results 

 
Net trading results are realized and non-realized trading results deriving from: 

 

 offsetting foreign currency transactions, cash and non-cash items, throughout the entire financial 
year, and  

 converting cash items denominated in foreign currency on the Balance Sheet date. 
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1. INTRODUCTION (Continued) 
 
c) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

 
Other Operating Income 

 
This income group includes: 
 

 gains from sale of available-for-sale financial assets; 

 income from dividends of available-for-sale financial assets; 

 gains from sale of property and equipment and intangible assets, which is a difference between 
sale inflows and their book value on the sale date; 

 gains from collection of previously written-off loans and receivables; 

 operating lease income; 

 income from previous years; 

 net release of special reserve against off-balance sheet exposure and provisions by type (for 
pension and other employees’ benefits, potential liabilities of court proceedings and other 
provisions), and 

 other income. 
 

Income is recognized and measured by the relevant standard of a certain asset on the basis of realized 
income. 

 
Impairment Loss / Impairment of Financial Assets 

 
Impairment loss is a difference between the book and recoverable values of the financial assets, as a 
present value of estimated future cash flows discounted by the initial effective interest rate of the 
financial assets: 

 loans to and receivables from banks and other clients; 

 held-to-maturity financial assets; and 

 available-for-sale financial assets. 
 
Impairment loss is recognized once there is evidence that the book value is higher than the estimated 
recoverable amount and recognized in the Income Statement as net impairment loss item of the 
financial assets. 
 
In the case where the causes for the impairment loss cease to exist, it is necessary to annul previously 
recognized impairment loss through the Income Statement item "Net Impairment Loss" of financial 
assets. Subsequent release of impairment loss is recognized for financial assets only recorded after 
depreciated purchase value and available-for-sale debt instruments. 
 
Subsequent releases of the impairment loss are not recognized for financial assets measured under 
purchase value and available-for-sale equity instruments. 
 
Impairment loss (value adjustment) is measured and recognized as follows: 
 

 on individual base, for financial assets that are individually significant items/exposures; 

 on accrual base, for a group of similar financial assets for which individual impairment loss may 
not be determined or has not been determined. 
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1. INTRODUCTION (Continued) 
 
c) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

Impairment Loss of Non-financial Assets 

 
Impairment loss of non-financial assets is a difference between their book value and recoverable 
amount of: 

 property and equipment; 

 intangible assets; 

 repossessed assets based on outstanding receivables; 

 non-current assets held for sale and disposal group; and 

 other assets. 
 
The Bank, assesses, on each Balance Sheet date, whether objective evidence exists that the non-
financial asset or a group of non-financial assets is impaired. 
 
Impairment loss is recognized once there is evidence that the book value is higher than the estimated 
recoverable amount of the non-financial asset and it is recognized in the Income Statement as net 
impairment loss of the non-financial assets. 
 
When the causes for impairment loss have ceased, previously recognized loss through the Income 
Statement item net impairment loss of non-financial assets, but not exceeding the amount of the 
previously recognized impairment loss. Subsequent releases of the impairment loss are not recognized 
for repossessed assets based on outstanding receivables. 
 
Expenses for Employees 
 

Expenses for employees include: 
 

 short-term benefits for the employees (salaries, compulsory allowances for social and health 
insurance, personal tax, short-term paid leaves, bonuses and etc.);  

 long-term benefits for the employees (jubilee rewards, pension benefits and etc.); and  

 defined contribution plan (payment of contributions in special fund). 
 
Short-term benefits are recognized at the period when they have been incurred and when obtaining the 
relevant service. Short-term benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount which is expected to be 
paid off based on employment and is recognized in the Income Statement as expenses. 
 
Long-term benefits are measured under their present value of the defined benefit liability on the Balance 
Sheet date, reduced for the fair value of the planned assets on the Balance Sheet date which are to be 
paid directly. Each actuarial gain or loss is recognized in the Income Statement in the period of its 
incurrence. 
 
Depreciation of Intangible Assets 
 

Depreciation of intangible assets is distributed on systematic base in the time of the best respective life 
assessment. The Bank assesses whether the useful life of the intangible asset is finite or indefinite and, 
if finite, then the length of the application is its respective useful life. 
 
The calculation of depreciation begins when the asset is available for use and ceases when the assets 
is classified as held-for-sale or is derecognized. Depreciation continues to be calculated for intangible 
assets placed out of use. The Bank will depreciate all intangible assets individually, classifying the 
assets with equivalent useful life and depreciation method in depreciation groups. 
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1. INTRODUCTION (Continued) 
 
c) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

Depreciation of Intangible Assets (Continued) 

 
Depreciation rates are determined in such a way to distribute the value of intangible assets in expenses 
in the assessed period of their useful life. 
 
Depreciation is calculated by straight-line method, and the depreciation expense for each period is 
recognized as expenditure in the Income Statement item “Depreciation”. 
 
The period for calculation of depreciation (residual value and useful life of the asset) and the 
depreciation method is checked at the end of each financial year and if a change is established it should 
be recorded as a change of accounting assessment, prospectively in the current and future periods.   
 
Depreciation of Tangible Assets 

 
Depreciation of tangible assets is distributed on systematic base in the time of the best assessment of 
their useful life. The calculation of depreciation begins when the asset is available for use and ends 
when the asset has been classified as held for sale and is derecognized. Depreciation continues to be 
calculated for tangible assets placed out of use. The Bank will depreciate all tangible assets individually, 
classifying the assets with equivalent useful life and depreciation method in depreciation groups. 
 
Land has indefinite useful life and is not depreciated. Works of art are not depreciated. 
 
Depreciation rates are so determined to distribute the value of tangible assets in expenses in the 
assessed period of their useful life. 
 
Depreciation is calculated by straight-line method, and the depreciation expense for each period is 
recognized as expenditure in the Income Statement item “Depreciation”. 
 
The period for calculation of depreciation (residual value and useful life of the asset) and the 
depreciation method is checked at the end of each financial year and if a change is established it should 
be recorded as a change of accounting estimation, prospectively in the current and future periods. 
 
Other Operating Expenses 
 

The group of other operating expenses includes: administrative expenses, loss from sales of financial 
assets available-for-sale, loss from disposal of property and equipment, loss from disposal of intangible 
assets, expenses for special reserve and provisions on net base and other expenses that may not be 
categorized in a specific item. 
 
Other operating expenses are recognized based on the principle of direct relationship with income, i.e. 
when there is deference between the expenses and income. 
 
Other operating expenses are recognized and recorded based on the actually incurred expenses 
presented in credible accounting documents (invoices, agreements, calculations). 
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1. INTRODUCTION (Continued) 
 
c) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

 
Financial Assets 
 

The Bank classifies its financial assets into the following categories: loans and receivables, available-
for-sale financial assets, as well as held-to-maturity financial assets. The Management classifies its 
investments at the time of their initial recognition. 
 
Loans and Receivables 

 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed and determinable payments, which 
are not listed in an active market, approving money or services directly to the clients without intention to 
exchange the receivable. The portfolio includes loans provided to clients. 
 
Loans are initially recognized when cash is advanced to the borrowers. Loans and receivables are 
initially recorded under their value. Transaction expenses directly connected to acquisition or issue are 
included in the initial measurement of the loan-based receivables. 
 
Upon the initial recognition, loans and receivables are recorded under their depreciation purchase value 
by applying the Effective Interest Method. Profit or loss of the subsequent measurement is recognized in 
net profit or loss only where the assets are impaired or derecognized as well as through the depreciation 
process. 
 
Available-for-sale Financial Assets 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets are those assets which are kept for an indefinite period of time, which 
may be sold in response to the needs of solvency or fluctuations in interest rates, foreign exchange 
rates, or prices of shares. Purchases and sales of financial assets are recorded on the transaction date - 
date on which the bank is obliged to buy or sell the asset.  All financial assets which are not recognized 
under their fair value through gains/losses are initially recognized under their fair value increased for the 
transaction costs. Financial assets cease to be recognized upon the expiry of the rights to receive cash 
flows, or as soon as the Bank has transferred all significant risks and benefits of their ownership. 
 
Following the initial recognition, the available-for-sale financial assets are recorded under their fair 
value. 
 
Gains and losses incurred due to changes in the available-for-sale financial assets fair value are 
recognized directly in the equity up to the time of their derecognition, or in case of their impairment, 
whereby accumulated gains or losses previously recognized in the equity, are afterwards recognized in 
the current gains or losses. However, the interest calculated by applying the Effective Interest Method 
as well as the exchange rate gain and loss differences of monetary assets classified as available-for-
sale are recognized in the Income Statement. Available-for-sale securities dividends are recognized in 
the Income Statement as soon as the right to receive payment is granted. 
 
Held-to-maturity Financial Assets 
 
Held-to-maturity financial assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments, fixed maturity dates, and the Bank Management has intention and capacity to hold them to 
maturity.Save the Bank sells a significant portion of the held-to-maturity financial assets prior to their 
maturity, the entire category of these assets shall be reclassified as available-for-sale financial assets.    
 
Purchases and sales of available-for-sale and held-to-maturity financial assets are recorded on the 
transaction date – the date on which the Bank is obliged to buy or sell the asset.    
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1. INTRODUCTION (Continued) 
 
c) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

 
Financial Assets (Continued) 
 
Held-to-maturity Financial Assets (Continued) 

 

Loans are recognized when cash is advanced to the borrowers. Financial assets are initially recognized 
under their fair value increased for the transaction costs. Financial assets cease to be recognized upon 
the expiry of the rights to receive cash flows or upon their transfer, and the Bank has assigned all 
significant risks and benefits of their ownership.   
 
The fair values of the listed investments on active stock exchanges are based on the current listing 
prices. Unless the market for certain financial asset is inactive (and for unlisted securities), the Bank 
determines the fair value by applying assessment techniques. 
 
Impairment of Financial assets 
 

Assets Recorded at depreciated Purchase Value 
 
On each balance date, the Bank assesses whether an objective evidence of impairment of a financial 
asset exists. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is considered impaired as long as an objective 
evidence of impairment exists as a result of one or several occurrences which have occurred following the 
initial recognition of the asset (“Loss Occurrence”), and if such loss occurrence (or occurrences) affects the 
estimated future cash flow of the financial asset or the group of financial assets which can be credibly 
assessed. The criteria used by the Bank when determining the existence of objective evidence for 
immurement loss include:      
 

 Failure to observe the contractual payment obligations of the principal or interest;  

 Cash flow difficulties experienced by the borrower;  

 Failure to fulfill the contracts or loan terms and conditions;  

 Initiation of bankruptcy proceedings;  

 Deterioration of the borrower’s competitive position; and   

 Reduction in the value of the guarantees provided – collateral.   
 
The Bank assesses whether an objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that 
are individually significant as well as individually or collectively for financial assets which are not individually 
significant. If the Bank determines that no objective evidence exists for impairment of individually assessed 
financial asset, whether significant or not, it shall include that asset in the group of financial assets with 
similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses the impairment. 
 
Impairment loss of functional accounts receivable constitutes the amount determined as a difference 
between the book and present values of the financial assets of the expected future cash flows. 
 
The present value of functional accounts receivable is obtained by discounting expected future cash flows 
of those accounts receivable applying the initial effective interest rate determined on the basis of the 
contract. 
 
Amount of the special reserve for functional off-balance positions on individual base is equal to the present 
value of the expected future cash flows based on the payments by the Bank of the assumed potential 
obligations and collection from the client, discounted under current market price of the risk-free securities 
issued in same currency and maturity term as those of the expected payment or collection, or unless such 
price exists, current market price of risk-free securities is taken with closest maturity term to that of the 
expected payment. 
 
Provided that the loan or asset held to maturity has flexible interest rate, measurement rate of any 
impairment loss is effective interest rate determined under the contract, valid on the present value 
determination date of the expected cash flows. 
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1. INTRODUCTION (Continued) 
 
c) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

 
Financial Assets (Continued) 
 
Impairment of Financial assets (Continued) 
 
Assets Recorded at Depreciated Purchase Value (continued) 
 

Present value calculation of expected future cash flows of the financial asset secured by an asset taken 
as collateral expresses cash flows that may be incurred by realization of the collateral reduced for the 
acquisition and sale expenses of the collateral given that the requirements of the Credit Risk 
Management Decision have been met related to the collateral. 
 
For the purpose of group assessment of impairment loss, the financial assets are classified on the 
grounds of similar credit risk characteristics (i.e. based on the Bank procedure related to financial assets 
classification, taking into consideration the type of asset, industrial and geographic locations, type of 
collateral, the status of overdue period and other relevant factors).  Those characteristics are relevant 
for assessment of future cash flows of the groups of such type of assets that are assessed, so that they 
are indicators of debtors’ capacity to pay their outstanding amounts in accordance with the contract 
terms and conditions. 
 
Restructuring of Receivables 

 

Restructuring of receivables means establishing credit exposure by the Bank to substitute one or more 
existing receivables or to modify the existing credit exposure, with changes in the contractual terms and 
conditions as a result of the client’s deteriorated financial state, which, among others, includes: 
 

 Extending the maturity period; 

 Reducing the interest rate; 

 Reducing the amount of receivable (principal and/or due interest and commission) through 
write-off; 

 Capitalization of Interest; 

 Consolidation of more than one receivables in one by changing the contract terms and 
conditions; or 

 Other similar activities. 
 
Capitalization of interest is subscription or conversion of principal-based interest receivables. 
 
When restructuring a receivable, the Bank is obliged to observe the credit exposure classification criteria 
occurred as a result of the restructuring. 
 
Net effect of a restructuring receivable must not lead to increase of the Bank financial result, other than 
in cases of reducing the credit exposure as a result of collection. Within a six-month period after the 
restructuring, the Bank must not record income based on impairment release/special reserve, which is 
not a result of collection of the credit exposure. 
 
As exemption, the Bank may determine a better risk category and/or calculate lower impairment 
risk/special reserve amount, only if the credit exposure occurred as a result of restructuring is secured 
by first-class hedging instrument. 
 
The Bank may capitalize the interest only if it is a part of restructured receivable. 
 
The Bank is obliged to, for each restructured receivable, make an analysis of the causes of 
restructuring. 
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1. INTRODUCTION (Continued) 
 
c) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

 
Impairment of Financial assets (Continued) 

 
Assets Recorded at Depreciated Purchase Value (continued) 

 
Writing-off of receivables 
 
In case of non-performing loan, it is written off against the relevant provisions due to impairment. Such 
loans are written off as soon as all necessary procedures have been completed and loss amount 
determined. 
 
The Bank may perform partial or full write-off of receivables, where that written-off receivable is 
transferred to special off-balance account and the Bank keeps special records within a period of at least 
ten years. 
 
Subsequent compensations to previously written-off amounts reduce the provision amount due to loan 
impairment in favor of current gains. 
 
If subsequently the impairment loss amount is reduced and this decrease can objectively be related to 
an event that occurred following the recognition of the impairment (such as improvement in the debtor’s 
credit rating), the previously recognized impairment loss is reduced by correction of the provision 
account. The reduction amount is recognized in the current gains. 
 
Assets Recorded at Fair Value 

 
On each balance date, the Bank assesses whether an objective evidence of impairment of the financial 
asset exists. Significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the financial asset below its cost, serves 
as objective evidence in determining the impairment possibility. If such evidence exists for the available-
for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss – calculated as a difference between the cost and the 
current fair value is recognized in the Income Statement. If subsequently the fair value of a debt 
instrument classified as available-for-sale increases, and this increase can objectively be related to an 
event that occurred following the recognition of the impairment loss due to current gains or losses 
impairment, the impairment loss is reduced through the Income Statement.      
 
Intangible Assets 

 
Intangible assets acquired by the Bank are initially presented under their cost, and subsequently are 
measured by their cost reduced for accumulated depreciation and accumulated losses due to impairment. 
 
Computer Software 
 
Expenses related to upgrade or maintenance of computer software programs are recognized as such at 
the time of their incurrence. Expenses directly related to distinguishable and unique software products 
controlled by the Bank which are likely to create economic benefits, which will exceed the expenses one 
year later, are recognized as intangible assets. All other expenses are recognized in the Income Statement 
at the period of incurrence. Upgrade expenses incurred for computer software recognized as assets are 
depreciated by applying the Straight-line Depreciation Method within a period of four years. 
  
Other Intangible Assets 

 
Expenses for acquiring rights and licenses are capitalized and depreciated by applying the Straight-line 
Depreciation Method within a period of four years. 
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1. INTRODUCTION (Continued) 
 
c) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

Property and Equipment 
 

Property includes land and buildings. Property and equipment are recorded under their purchase values 
reduced for accumulated depreciation due to accumulated impairment losses. The purchase value 
includes expenses directly related to the acquisition of the assets. 
 
Subsequent costs are included in the asset book value or are recognized as a separate asset as 
appropriate, as long as there is a probability of inflow of future economic benefits for the Bank related to 
the item and when its purchase value can be measured reasonably. All other regular maintenances and 
repairs are recorded as expenses in the Income Statement during the financial period when they have 
occurred. 
 
Gains and losses related to disposals are determined by means of comparing inflows against the book 
value. They are included in the Income Statement.. 
 
Impairment Loss of Non-financial Assets 

 
The Bank Management in its regular session inspects the book value of non-current and intangible 
assets. If indications exist that such assets are impaired, the asset compensation value is calculated to 
determine the impairment. In cases where the asset book value is higher than its estimated recoverable 
amount, it is immediately written off against its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the 
higher of the net selling price and the assets value in use. 
 
Investments in Property Intended for Lease 

 
Investments in property intended for lease are initially recognized under their purchase values, including 
the costs directly related to the purchase of the assets. Subsequent investments in property intended for 
lease are recorded at fair value. 
 
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of property investments intended for lease are 
included in gains or losses for the period when they have incurred. 
 
Foreclosed assets 

 
Foreclosed assets include land, buildings, equipment and other valuables acquired as a substitution for 
collection of the outstanding receivables. 
 
Foreclosed assets  are recognized at the time of repossession on legal basis for registration of 
ownership, or when the following criteria have been fulfilled: the loan or other receivable to be legally 
considered paid at the time of repossession of the asset put up as a collateral for that loan or the other 
receivable so that the criteria for derecognition of the loan/receivable are satisfied; all rights and risks 
arising from the repossessed asset are transferred to the Bank; the repossessed asset will create future 
economic benefits constituting inflow for the Bank and its value can be accurately measured. 
 
Foreclosed assets are originally recognized under their initial book value, or lower value than: purchase 
value (book value) of the loan or receivable before the impairment loss on the date of repossession of 
the asset, or the value specified in the act adopted by a competent authority, which provides legal basis 
for acquiring ownership and assessed fair value reduced for expected costs of sales (notary charges, 
taxes and etc.) borne by the Bank. 
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1. INTRODUCTION (Continued) 
 
c) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

 
Foreclosed assets (Continued) 

 
On the repossession date, the Bank undertakes to make assessment of the market value of the 
repossessed asset valid on the repossession date and presents at least 20% impairment related to the 
initial book value of the repossessed asset. 
 
In case where the amount of the allowance for loan losses/special reserve is higher than the impairment 
entered on the repossession date, the Bank shall recognize this difference as revaluated value, which is 
a part of the additional Bank capital. 
 
If that receivable charged by acquisition of securities and shares was previously impaired, the 
impairment loss shall be released through the Income Statement. 
 
A part of the receivable that is not charged by repossession of the asset will be written off by the Bank. 
 
Assets repossessed due to outstanding receivables (other than acquired securities and shares) are 
accordingly measured under their lower value than their book and assessed value reduced for the costs 
of sales. At least once within a period of twelve months, the Bank undertakes to make an assessment of 
the value of assets repossessed due to outstanding receivables and it will indicate asset impairment 
loss in the Income Statement equal to at least the higher amount of: 1) negative amount difference 
between the assessed value and net value of the repossessed asset and 2) 20% of the net value of 
repossessed asset. 

 
In the period between two assessments of the foreclosed asset market value, the Bank, in its Income 
Statement, will recognize additional impairment loss value equal to the negative amount difference 
between the net value and presented value of reduced selling price of the foreclosed asset. 
 
If the Bank does not manage to sell the assets repossessed from the effective date of the Decision on 
the Accounting and Regulatory Treatment of the Foreclosed Assets, it will undertake, up to 01 January 
2017 or 2018, to reduce its net value to zero, and for assets repossessed after the effective date of this 
Decision, if not sold within 5 years as of the date of repossession, the Bank shall undertake to reduce 
their net value to zero at the end of the fifth year. 
 
Foreclosed assets and the impairment loss value is derecognized in the course of their sales, when they 
will be permanently called in or in case of reallocation of the fixed assets. The excess over the book 
value realized during the sale is recognized as earnings in the Income Statement under item Other 
Operating Income, and the lower of the book value realized during the sale is recognized as expenses in 
the Income Statement under item Other Operating Expenses. 
 
The Bank will derecognize the revaluation reserve for the foreclosed asset by releasing the impairment 
loss from the other non-financial assets through the Income Statement, as well as in case of deletion of 
the revaluation reserve from the additional capital of the Bank only for the amount of the after-tax 
earnings under the Decision of the Bank Assembly on reallocation in reserves or withhold unallocated 
earnings. 
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1. INTRODUCTION (Continued) 
 
c) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

 
Cash and cash equivalents 

 
For the purpose of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents include accounts with a less 
than 3 month maturity as of the date of acquisition including cash and balances with the National Bank. 
 
З For the purpose of preparing the cash and cash equivalent in Cash Flow Statement, mandatory 
reserve requirement in foreign currency and limited deposits is excluded. 
 
Other Assets 

 
This group of assets includes: receivables against buyers, expenses paid in advance, receivables 
against the employees, receivables from advances provided, and assets for other purposes, claims in 
and on behalf of others, receivables based on fees and commissions and other receivables not 
presented in any other items of the assets in the Balance Sheet. 
 
Short-term receivables without indicated interest rate are usually measures under their initial invoice 
amount, except where imputed interest effect is significant. 
 
Assets acquired without purchase shall be recognized under their fair value, unless the transaction is 
made on commercial base, or fair value of the asset (supplied or provided) cannot be accurately 
measured. In that case, the assets are recognized under their purchase values. 
 
Consequently, the asset is measured under its lower value than the book value and net realizable value. 
The net realizable value is equal to the assessed selling price reduced for the assessed closing and 
repair costs and assessed sales realization costs. 
 
Costs paid in advance for future periods are expressed as deferrals, and they are calculated as 
expenses for the relevant period based on a relevant accounting document. Such costs are the 
following: paid insurance premiums, rents, subscription for magazines and official gazettes and etc. 
 
Income related to the current accounting period due and payable in a future period are expressed as 
deferrals. Such income is non-matured calculated income, other than non-matured interest income.  In a 
future period when those deferrals become due, they are transferred in the account receivable. 
 
Provisions 

 
Provisions are recognized if the Bank has a current liability as a result of a past event, and it is possible 
that an outflow of assets will be required that will include economic benefits for settling the liability, and 
simultaneously a reliable assessment of the liability amount will be made. Provisions are reviewed at 
each balance date, and are furthermore adjusted in order to reflect the best current assessment. When 
the effect of the time value of money is material, the provision amount is a present value of costs 
anticipated for settling the liability. 
 
Employee benefits 

 
The Bank covers the pension plan contributions for its employees, in accordance with the national 
legislation on social security. Salary-based contributions are paid to the State Pension Fund and the 
mandatory private pension funds. There is no additional liability related to these pension plans. 
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1. INTRODUCTION (Continued) 
 
c) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

 
Employee benefits (Continued) 

 
In addition, all employers in the Republic of Macedonia are obliged to pay to their employees a special 
minimum sum for retirement in an amount defined by laws currently totaling to two average monthly 
salaries paid off in the Republic of Macedonia. The Bank calculates pension provisions to allocate the 
expenses in the relevant periods. In compliance with ISA 19 these benefits are determined as defined 
benefits for employees and their book value of liabilities arising from employees’ benefits is calculated at 
the end of the reporting period. The amount of these liabilities at the end of the reporting period is the 
discounted value of future payments. Other long-term benefits for employees include jubilee awards. 
 
The Bank does not administer pension plans or retirement allowance plans, and does not have any 
pension liabilities. The Bank is not obliged to provide additional allowances for present or past 
employees. 
 
Income Tax 

 
Costs for income tax are a sum of current and deferred income tax. Current income tax is calculated and 
paid in accordance with the Macedonian Income Tax Law. According to the amendments to the Income 
Tax Law (Official Gazette of RM No 112/14 and 129/15) the Bank calculated income tax for 2015 to the 
gross profit determined as a difference between the total income and total expenses determined 
pursuant to the accounting regulations and standards related to unrecognized taxable expenses defined 
by the Law. The income tax rate is 10% (2014: 10%). 
 
Financial liabilities 

 
Financial liabilities are classified in compliance with the content of agreed arrangements. Financial 
liabilities are classified as deposits of banks, financial institutions and clients, loan-based liabilities, other 
liabilities, subordinated liabilities and securities issued.   
 
Deposits, loan-based liabilities, subordinated liabilities and issued securities are major financial resource 
of the Bank activities.    
 
The Bank classifies capital instruments as financial liabilities or capital instruments in light of the 
contractual terms and conditions of the instrument.       
 
The Bank initially recognizes the deposits, loan-based liabilities, subordinated liabilities and issued 
securities on the date of their occurrence.  
 
The deposits, loan-based liabilities, subordinated liabilities and issued securities are initially measured 
under their purchase value increased for the transaction costs, and they are successively measured 
under their depreciated purchase value by applying the Effective Interest Method. 
 
Depreciated purchase value of the financial liability is the amount under which it is measured when 
initially recognized, reduced for the repayments of the principal, decreased or increased for the 
accumulated depreciation of each difference between the initial amount and the amount in the maturity 
period. 
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1. INTRODUCTION (Continued) 
 
c) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

 
Other liabilities 

 
The group of other liabilities includes the following: denar and foreign currency liabilities to fees and 
commissions, gross salary and other liabilities to the employees, dividends, liabilities to the clients, to 
given payment instruments, liabilities in and on behalf of others, received advances, non-matured 
calculated liabilities, deferred income and other liabilities that are not presented in any other liability 
items of the Balance Sheet. 
 
Other liabilities are recorded under their nominal value based on a relevant accounting document 
(invoice, agreement, calculation) in compliance with the Bank regulations and decisions. 
 
Inflows of assets that are not recognized as income in the current period are deferred for a future period 
and recorded as accrued liabilities. When income has been earned then accrued liabilities are debited, 
and income is approved. 
 
Expenses which can be definitely defined as reference to the accounting period, and is a liability in a 
future period, are recorded in accrued liabilities. When liabilities become due and payable, accrued 
liabilities will be cancelled and liabilities presented.   
 
Derecognition of Financial Liabilities 

 
The Bank derecognizes the financial liabilities only when its liabilities are effectuated, cancelled or 
outdated. 
 
Borrowings 
 

Borrowings are initially recognized under their fair value, which means received inflows (fair value of 
received considerations) reduced for the transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently 
recorded under their depreciated acquisition value. 
 
Equity, Reserves and Payments of Dividends 

 
(a) Equity 
 
Equity constitutes the nominal value of issued shares (registered and paid capital). 
 
(b) Share premium 

 
Share premium is the difference between the nominal value and the realizable price of the shares. 

 
(c) Share Issue Costs 
 
The costs for issue of new shares, options or acquiring business are presented in the equity as a 
deduction, net of tax returns. 
 
(d) Equity Shares 
 
When the Bank purchases its own equity, paid considerations are deducted from the total equity as 
equity shares, until they are sold. When such shares are subsequently sold, the received considerations 
are included in the equity. 
 
(e) Reserves 

 
Reserves comprising revaluation and statutory reserves have been accumulated over the time based on 
gains/losses from revaluation of tangible assets, in the case of revaluation reserves, and by means of 
allocating the accumulated gains based on the regulations and the decisions adopted by the Bank 
Management.     
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1. INTRODUCTION (Continued) 
 
c) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

 
Equity, Reserves and Payments of Dividends (Continued) 

 
(g) Undistributed Profit 

 
Undistributed profit includes retained earnings from the current and past periods. 
 
(h) Dividends on Ordinary Shares 
 
Dividends on ordinary shares are recognized as liabilities within the period when the company’s 
shareholders have approved them.  
Current year dividends declared following the balance date are presented in the Subsequent Events 
Note. 
 
Fiduciary Activities 

 
The Bank usually acts as a creditor and has other fiduciary functions which results in safekeeping or 
placement of assets on behalf of natural persons or other institutions. Those assets and income 
resulting thereof are not included in these financial statements as they are not the Bank’s assets. 
 
Off-balance Potential and Assumed Liabilities 

 
The Bank assumes liabilities within its business activities based on loans recorded at off-balance sheet 
accounts, which primarily includes letters of guarantee and letters of credit. These financial liabilities are 
recorded in the Balance Sheet once they are returned. Impairment provision related to off-balance 
potentials and assumed liabilities has been presented within the “Impairment of Financial Assets” 
section of this Note, and is entered in the Balance Sheet as a liability. 

 
d) Changes in the Accounting Policies, Accounting Estimates and Correction of Inaccuracies 
 

During the 2015 and 2014 there are no changes in the accounting policies or correction of errors in 
these financial statements. 
 

f) Compliance with Regulation 

 
The Bank complies with the national legislation, i.e. the Banking Law (Official Gazette of the Republic of 
Macedonia No 67/2007, 90/2009, 67/2010, 26/2013, 15/15 and 153/15), as well as with all other bylaws 
governing its operations. 
 
During the period from December 1, 2015 through January 28, 2015 NBRM performed control as of 
September 30, 2014 and for the period then ended, related to compliance with the legal regulations, 
implementation of measures prescribed by NBRM, credit risk, liquidity risk, corporate governance and 
compliance with the operating regulations of the Bank. As of May 20, 2015 NBRM issued report for the 
control performed. Additionaлly, from April 6, 2015 through April 30, 2015 NBRM performed control for 
assessment of the risk for inappropriateness of the information system of the Bank as of April 30, 2015 
and for the period then ended. 
 
Regarding the areas covered by the control, certain weaknesses and recommendations were identified. 
The Bank undertakes appropriate activities by developing instructions and guidance to improve the 
activities in the areas where the weaknesses have been identified. 
 
For the identified weaknesses the Bank prepared Action Plan which includes activities for appropriate 
improvements and correction of the weaknesses and irregularities detected with the control. Continuous 
monitoring of the implementation of the recommendations by NBRM is performed and quarterly reports 
are submitted to the Supervisory Board and NBRM. 
 

g) Risk Management Disclosures 

The nature and the Bank’s exposure to different types of risk, as well as the Bank’s objectives, policies 
and processes for risk management are disclosed in Note 2 and 3. 
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1. INTRODUCTION (Continued) 
 
h) Events After the Balance Sheet Date 

 

These subsequent events which provide additional information on the financial standing of the Bank at 
the balance date (corrective events) are reflected in the financial statements. Such subsequent events 
which cannot be considered as corrective events are presented in an adequate note provided they are 
materially relevant. 
 

2. RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

Description of the Bank Risk Management Systems 

 
Risk management operations are run by the Risk Management Division of SPARKASE BANKA 
MAKEDONIJA AD Skopje. 
 
The Risk Management Division manages three main pillars: loan risk management, strategic risk 
management and collection of non-performing loans and repossessed property operations. 
 
The Departments and Units within the Risk Management Division are staffed with professional 
personnel contributing to adequate lending management process from the aspect of risk, provisions 
process management as well as strengthening collection of non-performing loans and successful 
management with other risks such as market, liquidity and operational risks 
 
The Bank established internal limits of exposure to various types of risk exposures, and primarily credit 
risk, liquidity risk and market risk. The bank regularly monitors regulatory limits that are fully fulfilled. 
 
Internally established limits and medium-term targets to credit risk exposure, market risk and liquidity 
risk are part of the Risk Apetite Statement-of the Bank and are regularly monitored on a quarterly basis 
and reported to the Supervisory Board. Fulfillment of certain internally set limits is followed by the ALCO 
Committee of the Bank and the Board Risk Management, as well, which are responsible to propose and 
approve measures and strategies in the event of non-compliance with internally established limits. 
 
In 2015, risk management was mainly focused on credit risk management as one of the major risks to 
which the Bank is exposed; however, the other risks such as market, liquidity and operational risks were 
accordingly monitored. According to its regulations, the Bank in 2014 also monitored the Internal Capital 
Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP). 
 

2.1 Credit Risk 

 
For the purpose of monitoring the credit risk, the Bank has established adequate organization of the 
lending process in terms of client segmentation, pouvoir decision-making process (loan authorizations, 
minimum standards and rules for financing retail and corporate loans; retail and corporate rating models, 
lending policy of the Bank, operations of collateral management and collection of non-performing loans. 
 
One of main objectives in the part of the credit risk management is strengthening the collection 
operations with corporate clients from their regular portfolio, and mostly collection of bad and doubtful 
debts. This was achieved by promotion of the existing Monitoring and Reporting System through new 
regular reporting forms, promotion of the Early Warning System (EWS) as well as promotion of the 
repossessed property management process. On the side of retail collection the Bank has established an 
internal Call Center treating +1-day delay collection. 
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2. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 
2.1 Credit Risk (Continued) 

 
Description of the Level and Changes in the Value Adjustment and the Separated Special 
Provision   
 

The Strategic Risk Department has focused its risk management activities on credit risk identification, 
measurement and monitoring. Monitoring is performed by observing the Bank credit portfolio quality, 
along with its divisional and geographic dispersion. This involves continuous monitoring of the credit 
exposure to individual entities or a group of related entities, for which purposes assets classification is 
performed on a monthly basis with reference to risk-related loans. The Call Center regularly fulfills its 
duty of reporting the credit portfolio movements to the Risk Management Board and Supervisory Board, 
in particular with reference to the credit portfolio from the aspect of its risk status. 
 
The Bank total assets exposed to credit risk covers loans to clients, regular interest-based receivables, 
the Bank off-balance sheet credit exposure as well as other receivables which in addition to the Bank 
capital investments in other companies, comprise receivables from buyers, commission and fee 
receivables as well as other receivables, credit risk of which is assessed by the Bank. 
 
The Bank classifies each functional balance sheet and off-balance sheet item by the level of credit risk 
exposure in a manner and criteria determined in the Credit Risk Management Decision. 
 

Credit risk exposure subject to classification by the Bank covers functional balance sheet receivables 
based on: matured and not-matured loans, non-performing loans, deposits with banks and other 
financial institutions, interest based receivables, non-performing interest, commission and fee 
receivables, other matured and non-performing receivables as well as other receivables exposing the 
Bank to a credit risk. 
 
The Bank is not obliged to classify the credit risk exposure of the following functional balance sheet 

items: 
 

 Cash assets, Bank’s accounts in the National Bank, intangible assets, property and equipment, 
natural resources, operational assets and inventories; 

 Items exposing the Bank to market and/or other type of risk, other than the credit risk – 
investments in securities and in other types of financial instruments held for trading, 
investments in securities and in other types of financial instruments assessed by their fair value 
through the income statement. 
 

When classifying the credit risk exposure, the Bank takes the following criteria into consideration: 

 client’s creditworthiness; 

 client’s regular settling of its obligations: 

 quality of the collateral. 
 
The Credit Risk Exposure Classification is in compliance with the Credit Risk Management Decision 
adopted by the NBRM (Official Gazette of RM No 50/13) and the same for 2015 and 2014 falls within 
the following framework: 

• From 0% to 5% of credit exposure, classified in risk category A 
• Over 5% to 20% of credit exposure, classified in risk category B 
• Over 20% to 45% of credit exposure, classified in risk category V 
• Over 45% to 70% of credit exposure, classified in risk category G 
• Over 70% to 100% of credit exposure, classified in risk category D. 
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2. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

2.1. Credit Risk (Continued) 

A. Analysis of Maximum Exposure to Credit Risk 

 

Loans and advances 
to banks  

Loans and advances 
to customers  

Investment in 
financial assets 

available-for-sale  

Investment in 
financial assets held- 

to-maturity  
Cash and cash 

equivalents  
Fee and commission 

receivables  Other receivables  
Off-balance sheet 

exposure  Total 

In thousands of Denars 

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014 

I. Carrying amount of  
exposure with an 
allowance for 
impairment/special 
reserve                                    

Carrying amount of 
individually 
significant 
exposures, before the 
allowance for 
impairment and the 
special reserve, on 
individual basis                                    

Risk category A -  -  4.362.963   4.042.502   2.688.671  2.518.605  -  -  3.980.954   3.876.788  10.350  10.722  29.563   61.874   2.653.854  2.197.004  13.726.355   12.707.495 

Risk category B -  -  810.615   599.456   -     -     -  -  -  -  268  56  4.369  226  80.804  7.437  896.056   607.175  

Risk category V -  -  454.994   450.538   9.218  9.217  -  -  -  -  1.397  1.054  2.815  -  6.322  5.001  474.746   465.810  

Risk category G -  -  14.936   114.776   985  985  -  -  -  -  4  121  629  1.936  137  760  16.691   118.578  

Risk category D -  -  1.259.486   1.772.435   9.321  9.321  -  -  -  -  7.387  7.229  11.383  14.778   1.240  2.275  1.288.817  1.806.038  

 -  -  6.902.994   6.979.707  2.708.195  2.538.128  -  -  3.980.954   3.876.788  19.406  19.182  48.759   78.814   2.742.357  2.212.477  16.402.665   15.705.096  

(Allowance for 
impairment and 
special reserve, on 
individual basis) -  -  (1.457.516)  (1.699.106)  (12.481)  (12.481)  -  -  -  -  -  (5.052)  (34.331)  (19.476)  (30.127)  (18.958)  (1.534.455)  (1.755.073) 

Carrying amount of 
individually 
significant exposures, 
reduced by allowance 
for impairment and 
the special reserve, 
on individual basis -  -  5.445.478   5.280.601   2.695.714  2.525.647  -  -  3.980.954   3.876.788   19.406  14.130  14.428  59.338   2.712.230  2.193.519  14.868.210  13.950.023  
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2. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

2.1. Credit Risk (Continued) 

A. Analysis of Maximum Exposure to Credit Risk (Continued) 

 
Loans and advances 

to banks  
Loans and advances 

to customers  

Investment in 
financial assets 

available-for-sale  

Investment in 
financial assets held- 

to-maturity  
Cash and cash 

equivalents  
Fee and commission 

receivables  Other receivables  
Off-balance sheet 

exposure  Total 

In thousands of Denars 

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014 

Carrying amount of 
exposures assessed on 
group basis, before 
allowance for 

impairment and the 
special reserve on 
group basis                                    

Individually 
insignificant 
exposures (portfolio 
of small-amount 
loans) -  -  4.150.749   3.310.943   -  -  -  -  -  -  1.105  1.172  12.037  23.696  251.679  235.247  4.415.570   3.571.058  

Individually significant 
exposures that are 
not impaired on 
individual basis -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

 -  -  4.150.749   3.310.943   -  -  -  -  -  -  1.105  1.172  12.037  23.696  251.679  235.247  4.415.570   3.571.058  

(Allowance for 
impairment and 
special reserve, group 
basis) -  -  (53.394)  (46.878)  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (74)  (59)  (829)  (5.432)  (5.547)  (58.885)  (53.328) 

Carrying amount of 
exposures assessed 
on group basis, less 
the allowance for 
impairment and the 
special rreserve, 
group basis -  -  4.097.355   3.264.065   -  -  -  -  -  -  1.105  1.098  11.978  22.867  246.247  229.700  4.356.685   3.517.730  
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2. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

2.1. Credit Risk (Continued) 

A. Analysis of Maximum Exposure to Credit Risk ( Continued) 

 

Loans and advances 
to banks  

Loans and advances 
to customers  

Investment in 
financial assets 

available-for-sale  

Investment in 
financial assets held- 

to-maturity  
Cash and cash 

equivalents  
Fee and commission 

receivables  Other receivables  
Off-balance sheet 

exposure  Total 

In thousands of Denars 

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014 

II. Carrying amount 
of exposures without 
allowance for 
impairment/special 
reserve                                    

Past due receivables                                    

Aging structure of past 
due receivables for 
which there is no 
allowance for 
impairment                                    

         up to 30 days -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Carrying amount of  
receivables for which 

there is no allowance 
for impairment                                    

Non-matured 
receivables                                    

    Restructured 
receive. -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

    Other receivables. -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Carrying amount of 
undue receivables for 

which there is no 
allowance for 
impairment /special 
reserve                                    
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2. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

2.1. Credit Risk (Continued) 

A. Analysis of Maximum Exposure to Credit Risk ( Continued) 

 

Loans and advances 
to banks  

Loans and advances 
to customers  

Investment in 
financial assets 

available-for-sale  

Investment in 
financial assets held- 

to-maturity  
Cash and cash 

equivalents  
Fee and commission 

receivables  Other receivables  
Off-balance sheet 

exposure  Total 

In thousands of 
Denars 

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014 

                                    
Total Carrying amount 
of the credit risk 
receivables before the 
allowance for 
impairment and 
special reserve -  -  11.053.743  10.290.650  2.708.195  2.538.128  -  -  3.980.954   3.876.788   20.511  20.354  60.796   102.510   2.994.036  2.447.724  20.818.235   19.276.154 

(Total allowance for 
impairment and 
special reserve) -  -  (1.510.910)  (1.745.984)  (12.481)  (12.481)  -                  -                  -                 -  -  (5.126)  (34.390)  (20.305)  (35.559)  (24.505)  (1.593.340)  (1.808.401) 

Total Carrying amount 
of the credit risk 
receivables less the 
allowance for 
impairment and 
special reserve -  -  9.542.833   8.544.666   2.695.714  2.525.647  -  -  3.980.954   3.876.788   20.511  15.228  26.406  82.205   2.958.477  2.423.219  19.224.895   17.467.753  
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2. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

2.1. Credit Risk (Continued) 

B. Value of collateral (fair value) for mitigating of credit risk 

 
Loans and advances 

to banks  
Loans and advances 

to customers  

Investment in 
financial assets 

available-for-sale  

Investment in 
financial assets held- 

to-maturity  
Cash and cash 

equivalents  Other receivables  
Off-balance sheet 

exposure  Total 

In thousands of Denars 

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014 

Value of collateral of the credit exposure 
assessed for impairment on individual basis                                

First class collateral instruments                                
cash deposits (in depot and/or limited 
on bank accounts) -  -  481.099  467.703  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  168.677  144.664  649.776  612.367 
Government securities -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Government unconditional guarantees -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Bank guarantees -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Guarantees from insurance companies 

and insurance policies -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Corporate guarantees (except for 

banks and insurance companies) -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Guarantees from individuals -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Property pledge                                

   Property for own use (flats, houses) -  -  2.729.700  2.366.331  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  8.298  34.072  2.737.998  2.400.403 

Business property -  -  2.716.668  2.822.238  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  60.196  51.851  2.776.864  2.874.089 
Pledge over movables -  -  450.642  345.550  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  18.032  15.775  468.674  361.325 
Other types of collateral -  -  17.022  19.366  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  219.072  229.418  236.094  248.784 

Total value of collateral of credit 
exposure assessed for impairment on 
individual basis -  -  6.395.131  6.021.188  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  474.275  475.780  6.869.406  6.496.968 
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2. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

2.1. Credit Risk (Continued) 

B. Value of Collateral (Fair Value) for Mitigating of Credit Risk (Continued) 

 
Loans and advances 

to banks  
Loans and advances 

to customers  

Investment in 
financial assets 

available-for-sale  

Investment in 
financial assets held- 

to-maturity  
Cash and cash 

equivalents  Other receivables  
Off-balance sheet 

exposure  Total 

In thousands of Denars 

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014 

Value of collateral of the credit exposure 
assessed for impairment on group basis                                

First class collateral instruments                                
Cash deposits (in depot and/or limited on 

bank accounts) -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Government securities -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Government unconditional guarantees -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Bank guarantees -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Guarantees from insurance companies 
and insurance policies -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Corporate guarantees (except for banks 
and insurance companies) -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Guarantees from individuals -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Property pledge                                
Property for own use (flats, houses) -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Business property -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Pledge over movables -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Other types of guarantee -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Total value of collateral of credit 
exposure which is assessed for 
allowance for impairment, group basis -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
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2. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

2.1. Credit Risk (Continued) 

C. Concentration of Credit Risk by Industry 

 
Loans and advances 

to banks  
Loans and advances 

to customers  

Investment in 
financial assets 

available-for-sale  

Investment in 
financial assets held- 

to-maturity  
Cash and cash 

equivalents  
Fee and commission 

receivables  Other receivables  
Off-balance sheet 

exposure  Total 

In thousands of Denars 

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014 

Industry                                    

Non-residents -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Agriculture, hunting and 
forestry -  -  211.290  248.646  -  -  -  -  -  -  490  150  475  1.556  27.065  7.761  239.320  258.113 

Ore and stone 
extraction -  -  -  98  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  1  -  -  14.670  -  14.670  99 

Food industry -  -  238.244  287.106  7.037  7.037  -  -  -  -  2  41  1.292  2.706  70.480  67.302  317.055  364.192 

Industry for clothing and 
footwear -  -  36.855  142.387  -  -  -  -  -  -  115  104  605  2.574  82.677  93.362  120.252  238.427 

Chemical industry, 
production of 
construction materials, 
production and 
processing of fuels, 
pharmaceutical industry -  -  167.550  141.727  985  985  -  -  -  -  158  139  -  2.537  12.786  12.381  181.479  157.769 

Production 
of metals, machines, 
tools and equipment -  -  291.416  584.208  -  -  -  -  -  -  2  2  84  -  168.535  135.242  460.037  719.452 

Other processing 
industry -  -  54  117  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  3  -  -  -  -  54  120 

Electricity supply, 
gas, steam and air 
conditioning -  -  724.114  425.496  1.273  1.273  -  -  -  -  196  -  -  -  454.111  448.154  1.179.694  874.923 

Water supply, disposal 
of wastewater, waste 
management 
and remediation 
activities on the 
environment -  -  15.435  10.209  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  15  -  -  18.460  21.057  33.895  31.281 

Construction -  -  127.483  330.936  1.851  1.851  -  -  -  -  1.902  1.615  4.655  8.103  794.099  686.980  929.990  1.029.485 

Wholesale and retail 
trade; repair of motor 
vehicles and 
motorcycles. -  -  1.667.224  1.337.552  -  -  -  -  -  -  1.582  1.057  2.060  4.320  479.552  368.017  2.150.418  1.710.946 
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2. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

2.1. Credit Risk (Continued) 

C. Concentration of Credit Risk by Industry (Continued) 

 

Loans and advances 
to banks  

Loans and advances 
to customers  

Investment in 
financial assets 

available-for-sale  

Investment in 
financial assets held- 

to-maturity  
Cash and cash 

equivalents  
Fee and commission 

receivables  Other receivables  
Off-balance sheet 

exposure  Total 

In thousands of 
Denars 

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014  

Current 
year 
2015  

Previous 
year 
2014 

Transport and 
warehousing -  -  568.079  637.674  -  -  -  -  -  -  53  443  -  -  77.883  63.016  646.015  701.133 
Hotels and restaurants -  -  125.164  127.073  -  -  -  -  -  -  6.813  4.392  -  -  707  16.074  132.684  147.539 
Information 
and communications -  -  59.884  61.209  -  -  -  -  -  -  221  282  1.629  8.417  84.613  74.410  146.347  144.318 
Finance and insurance 
activities -  -  96.713  69.820  2.684.568  2.514.501  -  -  3.980.954  3.876.788  -  14  8.220  24.089  278.377  28.902  7.048.832  6.514.114 
Activities related to real 
estate -  -  320.776  245.421  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  2  1.003  1.003  28  18.905  321.807  265.331 
Professional, scientific and 
technical activities -  -  89.691  135.265  -  -  -  -  -  -  686  497  -  -  7.606  12.174  97.983  147.936 
Administrative and 
utility services -  -  38.901  29.837  -  -  -  -  -  -  11  92  332  532  3.916  3.987  43.160  34.448 
Public administration and 
defense; mandatory social 
security -  -  36.829  61.364  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  1  1.589  9.309  34.249  21.464  72.667  92.138 

Education -  -  316.593  326.390  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  7  -  -  12.356  25.347  328.949  351.744 
Health care and social 
work -  -  32.363  47.256  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  0  -  -  2.961  -  35.324  47.256 
Art, entertainment 
and recreation -  -  631  19.179  -  -  -  -  -  -  1.066  1.106  226  226  28.199  26.255  30.122  46.766 

Other utility -  -  8.357  6.566  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  14  -  -  1.252  -  9.609  6.580 
Private households with 
employed persons, 
household activities that 
produce goods and 
perform a diverse range of 
services for own needs -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Services of exterritorial 
organizations and bodies -  -  -  1  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  1 

ndividuals -  -  4.369.187  3.269.129  -  -  -  -  -  -  7.214  5.251  4.236  16.833  303.895  292.429  4.684.532  3.583.642 
Individual merchants and 
individuals not regarded as 
merchants -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Total -  -  9.542.833  8.544.666  2.695.714  2.525.647  -  -  3.980.954  3.876.788  20.511  15.228  26.406  82.205  2.958.477  2.423.219  19.224.895  17.467.753 
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2. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

2.1. Credit Risk (Continued) 

3. Concentration of Credit Risk by Geographical Location 

 

Loans and 
advances to banks  

Loans and advances to 
customers  

Investment in 
financial assets 

available-for-sale  

Investment in 
financial assets held-

to-maturity  
Cash and cash 

equivalents  
Fee and commission 

receivables  Other receivables  
Off-balance sheet 

exposure  Total 

In thousands of 
Denars 

Current 
year 
2015 

 Previos 
year 

    2014  

Current 
year 
2015 

 Previos 
year 

    2014  

Current 
year 
2015 

 Previos 
year 

    2014  

Current 
year 
2015 

 Previos 
year 

    2014  

Current 
year 
2015 

 Previos 
year 

    2014  

Current 
year 
2015 

 Previos 
year 

    2014  

Current 
year 
2015 

 Previos 
year 

    2014  

Current 
year 
2015 

 Previos 
year 

    2014  

Current 
year 
2015 

 Previos 
year 

    2014 

Geographical location                                    

Republic of 
Macedonia -  -  

9.542.833  8.544.666  2.290.767  2.525.647  -  -  3.980.954  3.876.788  20.511  15.228  26.406  82.205  2.958.477  2.423.219  18.819.948  17.467.753 

EU member countries -  -  -  -  404.947  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  404.947  - 

Europe (other) -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
OECD member 

countries 
(without the 
European 

    member-countries 
of OECD) -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Other (over 10% of 
total credit risk 
exposure) -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Total -  -  9,542,833  8,544,666  2,695,714  2,525,647  -  -  3,980,954  3,876,788  20,511  15,228  26,406  82,205  2,958,477  2,423,219  19,224,895  17,467,753 

 

Exposure of loans and receivables according to the geographical location of the debtors shows highest concentration in the Republic of Macedonia 98% (2014: 100%). 
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2. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 
2.2 Liquidity Risk 

 

Liquidity risk represents a risk of Bank’s inability to provide sufficient monetary assets to settle its short-
term liabilities when they come due, i.e. a risk that the necessary liquid assets will be provided at much 
higher cost. 

 
2.2.1. Liquidity Risk Management 
 

The main objective of the Bank’s liquidity management is to maintain adequate liquid assets, primarily 
cash and cash equivalents, to enable normal business operation of the Bank. 
 
The Bank is exposed to daily calls on its available cash resources from deposits, current accounts, and 
loan withdrawals. The Bank does not seek to maintain cash resources to meet all of these needs, 
estimating that a minimum level of reinvestment of maturing funds can be predicted with a high level of 
certainty. 

The matching and controlled mismatching of the maturities of assets and liabilities is fundamental to the 
management of the Bank. 
 
The Bank manages its liquidity risk through the constant monitoring of the maturities of its asset and 
liability components. 
 
The Bank actively monitors, manages and controls the liquidity risk exposure covering management of 
assets and resources in liabilities in accordance with the cash flows and their concentration for 
harmonization with cash inflows and outflows.  Liquidity risk exposure was measured through external 
and internal limits determined, i.e. the Bank’s compliance therewith. 
 
The Bank regularly calculates and reports on the liquidity rates up to 30 and 180 days, which were in 
compliance with the legally determined limit for the entire period. In addition to external liquidity 
indicators, the Bank calculates and monitors internal liquidity indicators, which are part of the liquidity 
management process. 
 
As a part of the liquidity risk management process, the Bank analyzes the level of concentration and 
participation of 20 largest depositors in the average deposit base as well as their compliance with the 
internally established limits. 
 
The Bank continuously fulfilled the legal obligation related to mandatory reserve in MKD and foreign 
currencies fully observing the legislation governing this area. 

 
The tables below analyze the Bank's assets and liabilities grouped by their maturity and based on the 
remaining period between the balance date and the contractual maturity date (in MKD thousands). 
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2. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 
2.2. Liquidity Risk (Continued) 
 
2.2.1. Liquidity Risk Management (Continued) 
 

Maturity of Financial Assets and Liabilities (Residual Maturity) 

In thousands of Denars 

Less than 
1 month  

From 1 to 
3 months  

From 3 to 
12 months  

From 1 to 
2 years 

 From 2 to 
5 years  

Over 5 
years  Total 

2015 (current year)              
Financial assets              

Cash and cash equivalents 4.316.559  -  -  511.666  -  -  4.828.225 

Trading assets -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Financial assets carried at a fair 
value through profit and loss at 
initial recognition -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Derivative assets held for risk 
management -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Loans and advances to banks  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Loans and advances to 
customers  510.835  629.508  2.103.586  3.222.785  2.570.424  2.747.639  11.784.777 

Investments in securities  30.624  351.452  686.359  -  1.168.471  471.289  2.708.195 

Investments in associates -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Current income tax receivables -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Other receivables  105.134  -  -  -  -  -  105.134 

Assets pledged as collateral -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Deferred tax assets -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Total financial assets 4.963.152  980.960  2.789.945  3.734.451  3.738.895  3.218.928  19.426.331 

              

Financial liabilities              

Trading liabilities -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Financial liabilities carried at a 
fair value through profit and loss 
at initial recognition  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Derivative liabilities held for risk 
management -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Due to banks 343.596  -  -  -  -  -  343.596 

Due to other customers 6.820.368  916.908  1.990.912  1.533.636  578.682  126.243  11.966.749 

Debt instruments issued -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Borrowings 116.758  -  226.824  258.295  561.047  452.449  1.615.373 

Subordinated debt 4.767  -  -  -  1.016.313  -  1.021.080 

Current income tax liabilities 5.229  -  -  -  -  -  5.229 

Deferred  tax liabilities -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Other liabilities  81.679   -  -  -  -  -  81.679 

Total financial liabilities 7.372.397  916.908  2.217.736  1.791.931  2.156.042  578.692  15.033.706 

              

Off-balance items              

Off-balance assets 240.382  -  -  420.855  205.216  -  866.453 

Off-balance liabilities 1.295.918  194.017  441.709  625.527  428.575  8.290  2.994.036 

              

Net liquidity gap (3.464.781)  (129.965)  130.500  1.737.848  1.359.494  2.631.946  2.265.042 
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2. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 
2.2. Liquidity Risk (Continued) 
 
2.2.1. Liquidity Risk Management (Continued) 
 

Maturity of Financial Assets and Liabilities (Residual Maturity) (Continued) 

In thousands of Denars 

Less than 
1 month  

From 1 to 
3 months  

From 3 to 
12 months  

From 1 to 
2 years 

 From 2 to 
5 years  

Over 5 
years  Total 

2014 (previous year)              
Financial assets              

Cash and cash equivalents 4.064.391  -  -  476.779  -  -  4.541.170 

Trading assets -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Financial assets carried at a fair value 
through profit and loss at initial 
recognition -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Derivative assets held for risk 
management -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Loans and advances to banks  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Loans and advances to customers  410.107  629.790  1.655.876  2.977.791  2.363.464  2.272.725  10.309.753 

Investments in securities  24.608  822.682  593.378  306.483  737.117  53.860  2.538.128 

Investments in associates -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Current income tax receivables 4.407  -  -  -  -  -  4.407 

Other receivables  149.413  -  -  -  -  -  149.413 

Assets pledged as collateral -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Deferred tax assets -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Total financial assets 4.652.926  1.452.472  2.249.254  3.761.053  3.100.581  2.326.585  17.542.871 

              

Financial liabilities              

Trading liabilities -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Financial liabilities carried at a fair 
value through profit and loss at initial 
recognition  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Derivative liabilities held for risk 
management -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Due to banks 1.255.714  -  -  -  -  -  1.255.714 

Due to other customers 4.788.136  1.153.610  2.205.431  773.776  542.487  27.675  9.491.115 

Debt instruments issued -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Borrowings 4.346  191.189  256.346  300.271  951.884  165.358  1.869.394 

Subordinated debt 5.001  -  -  -  399.626  614.817  1.019.444 

Current income tax liabilities -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Deferred  tax liabilities -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Other liabilities  99.248  -  -  -  -  -  99.248 

Total financial liabilities 6.152.445  1.344.799  2.461.777  1.074.047  1.893.997  807.850  13.734.915 

              

Off-balance items              

Off-balance assets 84.376  -  -  58.267  -  -  142.643 

Off-balance liabilities 1.109.587  120.634  412.675  157.671  646.674  -  2.447.241 

              

Net liquidity gap (2.524.730)  (12.961)  (625.198)  2.587.602  559.910  1.518.735  1.503.358 
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2. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 
2.2. Liquidity Risk (Continued) 
 
2.2.1. Liquidity Risk Management (Continued) 
 

Maturity of Financial Assets and Liabilities (Residual Maturity) (Continued) 

Maturity analysis of the financial assets and liabilities, including balance and off-balance sheet items as 
of December 31, 2015 and 2014 has been prepared by remaining contractual maturities, i.e. the 
remaining period of the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts in the analysis 
are not reduced by the amounts of accumulated depreciation, impairment losses and allocated special 
reserve. 
 

 
2.2. Market Risk 
 
 

The Bank is exposed to market risks. Market risks derive from the Bank open position in relation to the 
effect of the market interest rate fluctuations, as well as in relation to the effect of the exchange rate 
fluctuations. The Bank Management determines acceptable risk limits based on their daily monitoring. 
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2. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 
2.3. Market Risk (Continued) 
 
2.3.1. Sensitivity Analysis of Assets and Liabilities on the Change in Market Risk 

 
A. Sensitivity Analysis on the Changes of Market Risk on Assets and Liabilities 

 
 

Profit/Loss  Own funds  
Risk weighted 

assets  
Capital 

adequacy ratio 

 in thousands of 
Denars  

in thousands of 
Denars  

in thousands of 
Denars  In % 

2015 (current year)        
Amount before sensitivity analysis / stress-tests 
(as at December 31, 2015) 65.626  2.874.201  11.382.308  25,25% 
Effects from scenarios implementation        
Currency risk  
 (list separately the various scenarios, including 
the basic features of the scenario)        

 Denar to depreciate by 20% 99.746  2.909.863  13.448.783  21,64% 
Denar to depreciate by 10% 81.915  2.892.032  12.415.428  23,29% 
Denar to appreciate by 20% 28.422  2.838.539  9.315.364  30,47% 
Denar to appreciate by 10% 46.253  2.856.370  10.348.718  27,60% 

Interest rate risk  
(list separately the various scenarios, including 
the basic features of  the scenario)        

Interest rate of 200 basis points which affect the 
withdrawal of 30% of deposits of physical and legal 
entities whose interest rate is variable and 
adjustable. (190.852)  2.619.265  11.487.766  22,80% 

______________________________________ -  -  -  - 
______________________________________ -  -  -  - 
Risk of changing the market prices for 
investments in equity securities (list separately 
the various scenarios, including the basic 
features of the scenario)        

The investments in equity securities is insignificant 
in terms of total assets, and accordingly, the Bank 
does not perform stress test -  -  -  - 
_______________________________________ -  -  -  - 
_______________________________________ -  -  -  - 

Combined scenarios (list separately the various 
scenarios, including the basic features of the 
scenario)        

Combination of 20% Denar depreciation and an 
increase in the total amount of loans classified in risk 
categories V, G and D  by 10% by transferring an 
equal amount of credits from categories A and B (292.939)  2.517.178  13.056.097  19,28% 
Combination of 20% Denar depreciation and an 
increase in the total amount of loans classified in risk 
categories V, G and D  by 30% by transferring an 
equal amount of credits from categories A and B (555.511)  2.254.606  12.793.526  17,62% 
Combination of 20% Denar depreciation and an 
increase in the total amount of loans classified in risk 
categories V, G and D  by 50% by transferring an 

equal amount of credits from categories A and B (818.082)  1.992.035  12.530.954  15,90% 
_______________________________________ -  -  -  - 
_______________________________________ -  -  -  - 
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2. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 
2.3. Market Risk (Continued) 
 
2.3.1. Sensitivity Analysis of Assets and Liabilities on the Change in Market Risk (Continued) 

 
A. Sensitivity Analysis on the Changes of Market Risk on Assets and Liabilities (Continued) 

 
 

Profit/Loss  Own funds  
Risk weighted 

assets  
Capital 

adequacy ratio 

 in thousands of 
Denars  

in thousands of 
Denars  

in thousands of 
Denars  In % 

2014 (previous year)        
Amount before sensitivity analysis / stress-tests 
(as at December 31, 2014) 27.801  3.048.087  10.357.857  29,43% 
Effects from scenarios implementation        
Currency risk  
 (list separately the various scenarios, including 
the basic features of the scenario)        

 Denar to depreciate by 20% 92.377  3.112.663  12.474.495  24,95% 
Denar to depreciate by 10% 60.089  3.080.375  11.416.052  26,98% 
Denar to appreciate by 20% (36.775)  2.983.511  8.240.721  36,20% 
Denar to appreciate by 10% (4.487)  3.015.799  9.299.164  32,43% 

Interest rate risk  
(list separately the various scenarios, including 
the basic features of  the scenario)        

Interest rate of 200 basis points which affect the 
withdrawal of 30% of deposits of physical and legal 
entities whose interest rate is variable and 
adjustable. (236.906)  2.783.380  10.344.967  26,91% 

______________________________________ -  -  -  - 
______________________________________ -  -  -  - 
Risk of changing the market prices for 
investments in equity securities (list separately 
the various scenarios, including the basic 
features of the scenario)        

The investments in equity securities is insignificant 
in terms of total assets, and accordingly, the Bank 
does not perform stress test -  -  -  - 
_______________________________________ -  -  -  - 
_______________________________________ -  -  -  - 

Combined scenarios (list separately the various 
scenarios, including the basic features of the 
scenario)        

Combination of 20% Denar depreciation and an 
increase in the total amount of loans classified in risk 
categories V, G and D  by 10% by transferring an 
equal amount of credits from categories A and B (409.454)  2.638.633  12.000.466  21,99% 
Combination of 20% Denar depreciation and an 
increase in the total amount of loans classified in risk 
categories V, G and D  by 30% by transferring an 
equal amount of credits from categories A and B (738.279)  2.309.808  11.671.640  19,79% 
Combination of 20% Denar depreciation and an 
increase in the total amount of loans classified in risk 
categories V, G and D  by 50% by transferring an 

equal amount of credits from categories A and B (1.067.105)  1.980.982  11.342.815  17,46% 
_______________________________________ -  -  -  - 
_______________________________________ -  -  -  - 
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2. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 
2.3. Market Risk (Continued) 
 
2.3.1. Sensitivity Analysis of Assets and Liabilities on the Change in Market Risk (Continued) 

 
B. Analysis of Value Exposed to Market Risk in Trading Portfolio 

 Currrent year 2015  Previous year 2014 

In thousands of Denars 
As at 

December 31  
Average value 
for the period   

Highest value 
for the period  

Lowest value 
for the period  

As at 
December 31  

Average value 
for the period  

Highest value 
for the period  

Lowest value 
for the period) 

Amount of interest-bearing instruments exposed to risk -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Amount of foreign currency instruments exposed to risk -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Amount of equity instruments exposed to risk -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Variance (off-setting effect) -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Total -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
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2. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 
2.3. Market Risk (Continued) 
 
2.3.2 Sensitivity analysis of Changes in Interest Rates of Financial Assets and Liabilities (Excluding 

Trading Assets 
 

For the purpose of interest rate risk monitoring, the Bank has developed Interest Rate Risk Management 
Policy as an integral part of the market risk management process.  In addition to internal documents, the 
interest rate risk analysis and duration of equity is performed at least on quarterly basis. Main objective 
is to limit the potential loss due to fluctuations in market interest rate level, to maintain profitability, and 
operation reliability as well as the Bank’s equity market value. 
 
The interest rate risk, as a part of the market risk, is an important segment of the risk management 
process and it is under permanent monitoring and control in order to facilitate its efficient management 
and to achieve the planned financial results as well as to increase the economic and market value of the 
Bank assets and capital. 
 
The Bank manages active interest rate policy based on the Strategic Plan of the Bank as well as on the 
competitive position as compared to the other banks in the market. Throughout the year, continuous 
analyses of the interest-bearing assets and liabilities are conducted; the level of sensitivity to interest 
rate fluctuations, average weighted active and passive interest rate, value of interest-bearing assets and 
liabilities with internal and external determination of the interest rates as well as other relevant 
indicators. Based on all those analyses, ALCO makes further decisions on interest rates fluctuations. 

 
A. Interest Rate Sensitivity Analysis 

 

Schedule “VPV” prepared in accordance with the “Guidelines for implementing the Decision on 
managing the interest rate risk in the banking portfolio“ for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 
2014 are as follows: 

In thousands of Denars Currency 
 

December 31, 
2015  

December 
31, 2014 

      
Net weighed position for currency MKD cl 
EUR (FKS+VKS+PKS) MKDclEUR  43.377  61.575 
Net weighed position for currency MKD cl 
USD (FKS+VKS+PKS) MKDclUSD  (26.991)  (25.363) 
Net weighted position for currency EUR 
(FKS+VKS+PKS) EUR  227.787  22.575 
Net weighted position for currency MKD  
(FKS+VKS+PKS) MKD  83.557  22.407 
Net weighted position for other currencies 
(FKS+VKS+PKS) Other  (405)  (424) 
Net weighted position for currency USD 
(FKS+VKS+PKS) USD  3.726  4.760 

      
Total weighted value – Change in the 

economic value of the banking portfolio   331.051  85.530 

      
Own funds   2.874.201  3.048.087 

      
Total weighted value/ own funds    11,52%  2,81% 
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2. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 
2.3. Market Risk (Continued) 
 
2.3.2. Sensitivity analysis of Changes in Interest Rates of Financial Assets and Liabilities (Excluding Trading Assets) (Continued) 

 
B. Analysis of Reconciliation of Interest Rates 

 

The Bank is exposed to risks associated with the effects of fluctuation in the level of market interest rates on its financial position and cash flows. Interest margins may 
increase as a result of such changes, but can also decrease or cause a loss in the event of unplanned movements. Risk management activities in assets and liabilities are 
carried in terms of the Bank’s response to the changes in the interest rates. The Bank is always careful not to reduce the interest ma rgin. In any case the final effect will 
depend on various factors including the stability of the economy, surrounding environment and the rate of inflation. 
The table below summarizes the analysis of compliance of the interest rates of financial assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2015 and 2014. 

 
in thousands of Denars 

Less than  
1 month  

From 1 to 3 
months  

From 3 to 12 
months  From 1 to 2 years  From 2 to 5 years  Over 5 years  

Total interest 
bearing 

assets/liabilities 

December 31, 2015 (current year)              
FINANCIAL ASSETS              
Cash and cash equivalents 2.525.583  -  -  -  -  -  2.525.583 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss upon initial 
recognition -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Loans and advances to banks -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Loans and advances to other customers 78.754  416.824  5.671.295  502.105  1.399.621  1.703.956  9.772.555 

Investments in securities 791.073  351.452  683.213  -  1.168.471  404.947  3.399.156 
Other interest sensitive assets -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

              
Total interest sensitive financial assets 3.395.410  768.276  6.354.508  502.105  2.568.092  2.108.903  15.697.294 

              
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES              
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss upon initial 
recognition -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Due to banks 338.942  -  -  -  -  -  338.942 

Due to other customers 4.065.430  3.604.694  1.121.005  487.307  18.000  -  9.296.436 
Debt instruments issued -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Borrowings 69.579  -  376.629  205.280  508.252  452.450  1.612.190 
Subordinated debt and hybrid capital instruments -  -  615.947  -  400.366  -  1.016.313 
Other interest sensitive liabilities -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

              
Total interest sensitive financial assets 4.473.951  3.604.694  2.113.581  692.587  926.618  452.450  12.263.881 

              
Net balance sheet gap (1.078.541)  (2.836.418)  4.240.927  (190.482)  1.641.474  1.656.453  3.433.413 

              
Off balance sheet interest sensitive assets -  -                           -  -  -  -  - 
Off balance sheet interest sensitive liabilities -  -                           -  -  -  -  - 

              
Net off-balance sheet gap -  -                           -  -  -  -  - 

              
Total net-gap (1.078.541)  (2.836.418)  4.240.927  (190.482)  1.641.474  1.656.453  3.433.413 
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2. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 
2.3. Market Risk (Continued) 
 
2.3.2. Sensitivity analysis of Changes in Interest Rates of Financial Assets and Liabilities (Excluding Trading Assets) (Continued) 

 
B. Analysis of Reconciliation of Interest Rates (Continued) 

 
In thousands of Denars Less than 1 month  

From 1 to 3 
months  

From 3 to 12 
months  From 1 to 2 years  From 2 to 5 years  Over 5 years  

Total interest 
bearing 

assets/liabilities 

December 31, 2014 (previous year)              
FINANCIAL ASSETS               
Cash and cash equivalents 1.844.070  -  -  -  -  -  1.844.070 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss upon initial 
recognition -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Loans and advances to banks -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Loans and advances to other customers 71.205  2.142.201  4.962.058  309.013  562.534  411.881  8.458.892 

Investments in securities 1.362.912  821.490  591.423  306.483  737.113  -  3.819.421 
Other interest sensitive assets -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

              
Total interest sensitive financial assets 3.278.187  2.963.691  5.553.481  615.496  1.299.647  411.881  14.122.383 

              
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES              
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss upon initial 
recognition -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Due to banks 1.273.363  -  -  -  -  -  1.273.363 

Due to other customers 2.898.903  3.512.049  1.231.029  152.717  30.843  -  7.825.541 
Debt instruments issued -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Borrowings -  173.623  1.022.334  222.037  282.325  164.729  1.865.048 

Subordinated debt and hybrid capital instruments -  -  614.814  -  399.629  -  1.014.443 
Other interest sensitive liabilities -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

              
Total interest sensitive financial assets 4.172.266  3.685.672  2.868.177  374.754  712.797  164.729  11.978.395 

              
Net balance sheet gap (894.079)  (721.981)  2.685.304  240.742  586.850  247.152  2.143.988 

              
Off balance sheet interest sensitive assets -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Off balance sheet interest sensitive liabilities -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

              
Net off-balance sheet gap -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

              
Total net-gap (894.079)  (721.981)  2.685.304  240.742  586.850  247.152  2.143.988 
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2. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 
2.3. Market Risk (Continued) 
 
2.3.3. Foreign Currency Risk 
 

Currency risk management, which is also a part of the market risk management process, is achieved in 
conditions of stable MKD rate, or in conditions of continuous restrictive monetary policy at state level. 
The Bank takes effective activities for adequate identification, measurement, monitoring and control of 
the currency risk exposure, which cover determination of currency risk sources, measurement methods 
thereof, and establishing limits and other control measures. 
 
The basic currency risk management instrument, open foreign currency position of the Bank, is 
calculated on aggregate level as well as separately by currencies and by monitoring their compliance 
with the externally and internally determined limits. 

        Other   

In thousands of Denars  MKD  EUR  USD  Currency  Total 

2015 (current year)           

Monetary assets           

Cash and cash equivalents  3.108.626  1.480.530  77.854  161.215  4.828.225 

Trading assets   -  -  -  -  - 

Financial assets carried at a fair value through 
profit and loss at initial recognition 

 
-  -  -  -  - 

Derivative assets held for risk management  -  -  -  -  - 

Loans and advances to banks   -  -  -  -  - 

Loans and advances to customers   3.434.426  5.884.527  188.760  38  9.507.751 

Investments in securities   1.219.322  1.476.392  -  -  2.695.714 

Investments in associates  -  -  -  -  - 

Current income tax receivables  -  -  -  -  - 

Other receivables   71.938  3.676  490  18  76.122 

Assets pledged as collateral  -  -  -  -  - 

Deferred  tax assets  -  -  -  -  - 

           

Total monetary assets  7.834.312  8.845.125  267.104  161.271  17.107.812 

           

Monetary liabilities           

Trading liabilities  -  -  -  -  - 

Financial liabilities carried at a fair value through 
profit and loss at initial recognition  

 
-  -  -  -  - 

Derivative liabilities held for risk management  -  -  -  -  - 

Due to banks  171  341.293  281  1.851  343.596 

Due to other customers  5.691.291  5.580.982  452.087  242.389  11.966.749 

Debt instruments issued  -  -  -  -  - 

Borrowings  -  1.403.704  211.669  -  1.615.373 

Subordinated debt  -  1.021.080  -  -  1.021.080 

Income tax payable (current)  5.229  -  -  -  5.229 

Deferred  tax liabilities  -  -  -  -  - 

Other liabilities   100.296  48.168  1.403  1.563  151.430 

           

 Total monetary liabilities  5.796.987  8.395.227  665.440  245.803  15.103.457 

           
           

Net foreign currency position  2.037.325  449.898  (398.336)  (84.532)  2.004.355 
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2. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 
2.3. Market Risk (Continued) 
 
2.3.3. Foreign Currency Risk (Continued) 

        Other    
In thousands of Denars  MKD  EUR  USD  Currency  Total 

2014 (previous year)           

Monetary assets           

Cash and cash equivalents  2.208.200  2.187.664  67.784  77.522  4.541.170 

Trading assets   -  -  -  -  - 

Financial assets carried at a fair value through 
profit and loss at initial recognition 

 
-  -  -  -  - 

Derivative assets held for risk management  -  -  -  -  - 

Loans and advances to banks   -  -  -  -  - 

Loans and advances to customers   2.530.949  5.736.601  238.059  128  8.505.737 

Investments in securities   1.457.442  1.068.205  -  -  2.525.647 

Investments in associates  -  -  -  -  - 

Current income tax receivables  4.407  -  -  -  4.407 

Other receivables   131.939  2.281  443  17  134.680 

Assets pledged as collateral  -  -  -  -  - 

Deferred  tax assets  -  -  -  -  - 

           

Total monetary assets  6.332.937  8.994.751  306.286  77.667  15.711.641 

           

Monetary liabilities           

Trading liabilities  -  -  -  -  - 

Financial liabilities carried at a fair value through 
profit and loss at initial recognition  

 
-  -  -  -  - 

Derivative liabilities held for risk management  -  -  -  -  - 

Due to banks  171  1.254.604  655  284  1.255.714 

Due to other customers  4.376.651  4.481.865  400.493  232.106  9.491.115 

Debt instruments issued  -  -  -  -  - 

Borrowings  -  1.670.146  199.248  -  1.869.394 

Subordinated debt  -  1.019.444  -  -  1.019.444 

Income tax payable (current)  -  -  -  -  - 

Deferred  tax liabilities  -  -  -  -  - 

Other liabilities   90.470  48.366  1.088  1.169  141.093 

           

 Total monetary liabilities  4.467.292  8.474.425  601.484  233.559  13.776.760 

           

           

Net foreign currency position  1.865.645  520.326  (295.198)  (155.892)  1.934.881 

 
2.4. Operating Risk 
 

 
Operational risk is a risk of loss due to inadequate and poor internal processes, lack of relevant persons 
and inappropriate or poor systems in the Bank, external events and legal risk. 
 
The Bank has established Operational Risk Management Policy adopted by the Bank Supervisory Board. 
It is reviewed on regular basis by the Supervisory Board, and pursuant to the Risk Management Decision 
adopted by the National Bank of the Republic of Macedonia.  This Policy is subject to evaluation of its 
suitability by the Supervisory Board at least on yearly level. 
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2. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 

2.4 Operating Risk (Continued) 

 
Within its Policy, the Bank defines operational risks as risks occurring due to lack of actions or faults in the 
internal processes, systems and persons or external events. This commitment also includes the legal risk, 
and excludes the strategic and reputation risks. However, due to the importance of the reputation risk, it is 
taken into consideration when managing operational risks. 
 
Operational risk management objective is to limit the number of potential losses and probability of their 
realization at a satisfactory level for the Bank as perceived both from financial aspect and reputation of the 
Bank. The Bank accepts those operational risks which, if realized, will not considerably affect the financial 
results or further operations of the Bank. The police and acts arising from this objective have established 
consistent approach to the operational risk management. 
 
The Bank makes estimation of the capital requirement to cover the operational risks by applying 
standardized approach under the local legislation. 
 

3. CAPITAL ADEQUACY 
 

Capital Management 
 

Main objective of the Bank is to maintain its equity capital at an optimum level thus observing stipulated 
regulatory minimum requirement. The Bank is obliged to constantly maintain the capital adequacy rate at 
a level not less than 8%. 
 
The Bank attempts to reliably assess the current asset risk, to make an estimate of the future risk as well 
as the requirement of equity capital for the purpose of maintaining an optimum capital adequacy level.  
 
The Bank has established a system for maintaining adequate equity capital level in relation to the risk-
weighted assets, and continuously maintains the capital adequacy at a minimum level of 15% in 
accordance with the NBRM recommendations. 
 
If the asset risk is generally increased to maintain optimum capital adequacy level, the Bank may increase 
its equity capital or take measures for reducing risk-weighted assets.  
 
An instrument that the Bank uses for increasing its equity capital is the policy of reinvesting its profit. 
 
Furthermore, another policy which the Bank applies for increasing its equity capital is the one comprising 
periodical new issues of additional equity.  
 
If the level of equity capital increases, the Bank may increase the risk-weighted assets through increasing 
the total value of assets and by retaining the current level of asset risk. 
 
The Bank harmonizes the equity capital management policy with other risk management policies and with 
the applicable legislation whenever operational conditions are at risk and new products are introduced 
having major impact on the Bank risk profile. 
 
The capital necessary for covering risks comprises the total capital necessary for covering credit risk, 
capital necessary for covering currency risk, capital necessary for covering the risk of changes in goods 
prices, capital necessary for covering market risks as well as capital necessary for covering operational 
risk. The Bank is obliged to possess adequate capital level necessary for covering those risks. 
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3. CAPITAL ADEQUACY (Continued) 
 

Capital Management (Continued) 
 

Pursuant to the risk management strategy, the Bank introduces procedures and methodology for 
determining capital adequacy and it is calculated quarterly. The Bank performs capital adequacy stress 
tests, checking whether the capital adequacy ratio is maintained at the level prescribed by the legislation 
or by the business policy defined by the Bank and the recommendation provided by the regulatory body. 
 
Capital adequacy on 31.12.2015 and 31.12.2014 is shown in the tables below. 

 
Own Funds  
 

The table below gives an overview of the Report on own funds (Form SS) prepared in accordance with the 
Guidelines for Implementation of the Decision on the methodology for determining capital adequacy, 
according to the applicable prescribed regulation from NBRM as at  December 31, 2015 and 2014. 

 
  In thousands of Denars 
 Description 2015  2014 

     
I CORE CAPITAL    

1 
Paid and registered ordinary and non-cumulative 
preferred shares and their premium 2.524.394  2.524.394 

1.1   Nominal value 1.662.775  1.662.775 
1.1.1     Nominal value of ordinary shares 1.662.775  1.662.775 
1.1.2     Nominal value of non-cumulative preferred shares -  - 

1.2   Premium 861.619  861.619 
1.2.1     Premium from ordinary shares 861.619  861.619 
1.2.2     Premium from non-cumulative preferred shares  -  - 

     
2 Reserves and retained earnings or losses (303.097)  (330.898) 

2.1 Reserved Fund -  - 
2.2 Retained earnings restricted for distributions to shareholders -  - 
2.3 Accumulated loss from previous years (303.097)  (330.898) 
2.4 Current profit -  - 

     
3 Items as result of consolidation -  - 

3.1   Minority interest  -  - 
3.2   Exchange rate reserves -  - 
3.3   Other differences -  - 

     
4 Deductible items -  - 

4.1 Current loss -  - 
4.2 Own shares -  - 
4.3 Intangible assets -  - 

4.4 
Difference between the necessary and the actual allowance 
for impairment/special reserve -  - 

4.5 
Amount of allocated allowance for impairment and special 
reserve as a result of accounting delay -  - 

4.6 Unrealized loss on equity instruments available-for-sale -  - 
4.7 Other deductible items -  - 

I CORE CAPITAL 2.221.297  2.193.496 
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3. CAPITAL ADEQUACY (Continued) 
 

Capital Management (Continued) 
  In thousands of Denars 
 Description 2015  2014 

     
II ADDITIONAL CAPITAL I    

5 
Paid and registered cumulative preferred shares and 
related premium -  - 

5.1   Nominal value -  - 
5.2   Premium -  - 

     
6 Revaluation reserve -  - 

     
7 Hybrid capital instruments -  - 

     
8 Subordinated instruments 652.904  854.591 

     

9 
Amount of subordinated instruments that can be part of 
additional capital I 652.904  854.591 

     

II ADDITIONAL CAPITAL I 652.904  854.591 

 
III DEDUCTIBLE ITEMS FROM CORE AND ADDITIONAL CAPITAL 

10 

Investments in capital of other banks or financial institutions 
which represent more than 10% of the capital of those 
institutions -  - 

     

11 

Investments in subordinated and hybrid capital instruments 
and other instruments of the aforementioned institutions 
under no.10 -  - 

     

12 

Aggregate amount of capital investment, subordinated and 
hybrid capital instrument and other instruments which 
exceeds 10% of core and additional capital  (I+II) -  - 

     

13 
Investments in insurance and reinsurance companies that 
exceed 10% of the capital of the companies -  - 

     

14 

Investments in financial instruments issued by insurance and 
reinsurance companies in which the Bank owns more than 
10% of their capital. -  - 

     

15 
Amount for exceeding the limits for investment in non-
financial institutions -  - 

     
16 Positions as a result of consolidation (negative amounts) -  - 

     

III DEDUCTIBLE ITEMS -  - 

     
IV CORE CAPITAL AFTER DEDUCTIONS 2.221.297  2.193.496 

     
V ADDITIONAL CAPITAL I AFTER DEDUCTIBLE ITEMS 652.904  854.591 

    
 OWN FUNDS 

VI Core capital 2.221.297  2.193.496 
VII Additional capital 652.904  854.591 

VIII OWN FUNDS 2.874.201  3.048.087 
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3. CAPITAL ADEQUACY (Continued) 
 

Capital Adequacy Ratio 

The table below gives an overview of the Report of the rate of capital adequacy (Form AK) prepared in 
accordance with the Guidelines for Implementation of the Decision on the methodology for determining 
capital adequacy, according to the applicable prescribed regulation from NBRM as at December 31, 
2015 and 2014. 

 Description In thousands of Denars 
  2015  2014 
     

I CREDIT RISK WEIGHTED ASSETS    

1 
Credit risk-weighted assets with the application of standardized 
approach 9.624.918  8.745.044 

2 Capital necessary to cover credit risk 769.993  699.604 
     

II FOREIGN CURRENCIES RISK WEIGHTED ASSETS    
3 Aggregate foreign currency position 345.003  324.357 
4 Net position in gold -  - 
5 Capital necessary to cover currency risk 27.600  25.949 
6 Foreign currencies weighted assets 345.000  324.363 

     
III OPERATING RISK WEIGHTED ASSETS    

7 
Capital necessary to cover operating risk with the application of 
the basic indicator approach 102.041  103.076 

8 
Capital necessary to cover operating risk with the application of 
standardized approach -  - 

9 Operating risk weighted assets 1.275.513  1.288.450 
     

IV OTHER RISK WEIGHTED ASSETS    
10 Capital necessary to cover the risk from price changes of goods  -  - 
11 Capital necessary to cover market risk -  - 

11.1 
Capital necessary to cover specific risk from investments in debt 
instruments -  - 

11.1.1 
Capital necessary to cover general risk from investments in debt 
instruments -  - 

11.1.2 Capital necessary to cover the risk from price changes of goods  -  - 

11.1.3 
Capital necessary to cover the specific risk from investments in 
equity instruments  -  - 

11.1.4 
Capital necessary to cover the general risk from investments in 
equity instruments -  - 

11.2 Capital necessary to cover the settlement risk  -  - 
11.3 Capital necessary to cover the counterpart risk -  - 
11.4 Capital necessary to cover overdraft of exposure limits -  - 
11.5 Capital necessary to cover market risks from options -  - 

12 Capital necessary to cover other risk -  - 
13 Other risk weighted assets -  - 

     
V RISK WEIGHTED ASSETS 11.245.431  10.357.857 

14 Capital necessary to cover the risks 899.634  828.629 
VI OWN FUNDS 2.874.201  3.048.087 

     
VII CAPITAL ADEQUACY RATIO (VI/V) 25,56%  29,43% 
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4. SEGMENT REPORTING 

Segment reporting is carried out by the Bank’s operating segments. 

Operating segment is a component of the activities of the Bank for which the following conditions have 
been fulfilled: 

• Performs activities as a result based on which incomes are generated and expenditures arise; 
• Reviews from the Bank’s Supervisory Board, in order to assess the accomplishments and 

decision making for future business activities of the segment; and 
• Financial information for the segment is available. 

 
The Bank primary business segments are as follows: 

• retail operation (retail banking and sole traders) – granted loans, letters of guarantee and 
letters of credit, services related to payment operations, credit cards, current and term deposits, 
and etc.  

• corporate banking (operations with non-financial and financial companies) – granted loans, 
letters of guarantee and letters of credit, current and time deposits, payment operations, 
derivatives, and etc. 

 
Secondary geographic segments are the following: 

• Member States of the European Union, 
• other non-EU countries, 
• non-European countries, members of the Organization for Economic Cooperation and 

Development (OECD). 
 

The following table shows the Balance Sheet and Income Statement by individual business segments 
identifying income/expenses among the segments.
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4. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 
 
A. Primary Business Segments 
 

 Operating Segments     

in thousands of Denars 

 
Retail 

customers  
Corporate 
banking 

 

Investment 
banking  Banks  Government  

Non-
residents  

Financial 
institution 
other than 

banks  

All other 
insignificant 

operating 
segments  Unallocated 

2015 (Current year)                  
Net Interest income/(expense) 173.178  292.116  -  -  116.194  -  (68)  -  581.420 
Net Income/(expenses) from fees and commission  75.236  61.030  -  -  -  -  914  -  137.180 
Net Income from trading -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Net Income from other  financial instruments carried 
at their  fair value  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Other operating income (24.694)  105.142  -  -  1.377  -  -  4.737  86.562 
Income realized between segments -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Total Income per segment 223.720  458.288  -  -  117.571  -  846  4.737  805.162 
                  
Allowance for impairment of financial assets, net  (23.681)  (162.952)  -  -  -  -  -  -  (186,633) 
Impairment loss of non-financial assets , net -  (1.020)  -  -  -  -  -  -  (1,020) 
Amortization and depreciation  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (40.407)  (40.407) 
Restructuring costs -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Cost for investment in property and equipment -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Other expenses (171.997)  (39.254)  -  -  -  -  -  (289.787)  (501.038) 

Total Expenses per segment (195.678)  (203.226)  -  -  -  -  -  (330.194)  (729.098) 

Financial result per segment  28.042  255.062  -  -  117.571  -  846  (325.457)  76.064 
Income Tax -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (10.438)  (10.438) 
Profit/(loss) for the financial year  28.042  255.062  -  -  117.571  -  846  (335.895)  65.626 

                  
Total assets per segment 4.487.085  6.763.243  -  -  3.512.870  -  61  -  14.763.259 
Unallocated assets per segment -  -  -  -  -  -  -  2.715.061  2.715.061 

Total assets 4.487.085  6.763.243  -  -  3.512.870  -  61  2.715.061  17.478.320 

                  
Total liabilities per segment 6.226.150  7.304.407  -  -  128.586  -  50.873  -  13.710.016 
Unallocated liabilities per segment -  -  -  -  -  -  -  1.481.381  1.481.381 

Total liabilities 6.226.150  7.304.407  -  -  128.586  -  50.873  1.481.381  15.191.397 
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4. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 
 
A. Primary Business Segments (Continued) 

 Operating Segments     

in thousands of Denars 

 
Retail 

customers  
Corporate 
banking  Banks  Government  

Non-
residents  

Financial 
institution 
other than 

banks  

All other 
insignificant 

operating 
segments  Unalocated  Total 

2014 (Previous year)                  
Net Interest income/(expense) 126.116  256.026  -  -  143.472  -  (1.970)  -  523.644 
Net Income/(expenses) from fees and commission  70.081  49.794  -  -  -  -  886  -  120.761 
Net Income from trading -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Net Income from other  financial instruments carried 
at their  fair value  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Other operating income (35.253)  151.820  -  -  86  -  -  8.194  124.847 
Income realized between segments -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Total Income per segment 160.944  457.640  -  -  143.558  -  (1.084)  8.194  769.252 
                  
Allowance for impairment of financial assets, net  (14.991)  (219.137)  -  -  -  -  -  -  (234.128) 
Impairment loss of non-financial assets , net -  (3.962)  -  -  -  -  -  -  (3.962) 
Amortization and depreciation  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (39.199)  (39.199) 
Restructuring costs -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Cost for investment in property and equipment -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Other expenses (193.084)  (38.217)  -  -  -  -  -  (232.285)  (463.586) 

Total Expenses per segment (208.075)  (261.316)  -  -  -  -  -  (271.484)  (740.875) 

Financial result per segment  (47.131)  196.324  -  -  143.558  -  (1.084)  (263.290)  28.377 
Income Tax -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (576)  (576) 
Profit/(loss) for the financial year  (47.131)  196.324  -  -  143.558  -  (1.084)  (263.866)  27.801 

                  
Total assets per segment 3.378.165  5.392.792  -  -  3.905.592  -  54  -  12.676.603 
Unallocated assets per segment -  -  -  -  -  -  -  3.397.251  3.397.251 

Total assets 3.378.165  5.392.792  -  -  3.905.592  -  54  3.397.251  16.073.854 

                  
Total liabilities per segment 5.579.471  6.410.865  -  -  158.391  -  52.964  -  12.201.691 
Unallocated liabilities per segment -  -  -  -  -  -  -  1.650.866  1.650.866 

Total liabilities 5.579.471  6.410.865  -  -  158.391  -  52.964  1.650.866  13.852.557 
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4. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 
 
B. Concentration of Total Income and Expense by Significant Customer 

 Operating Segments     

in thousands of Denars 

 
Retail 

customers  
Corporate 
banking  

Investment 
banking  

 
 
 

Non-
residents  Government  Banks  

All other 
insignificant 

operating 
segments  Unallocated  Total 

2015 (Current year)                  

Customer 1                  

Income -  743  -  -  -  -  -  -  743 
(expenses) -  (36.467)  -  -  -  -  -  -  (36.467) 

Customer 2                  
Income -  -  -  -  112.063  -  -  -  112.063 
(expenses) -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Total per segment -  (35.724)  -  -  112.063  -  -  -  76.339 

                  
2014 (Previous year)                  
Customer 1                  

Income -  2.031  -  -  -  -  -  -  2.031 
(expenses) -  (52.298)  -  -  -  -  -  -   (52.298) 

Customer 2                  
Income -  -  -  -  139.221  -  -  -  139.221 
(expenses) -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Total per segment -  (50.267)  -  -  139.221  -  -  -  88.954 
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4. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 
 
C. Geographical Location 

 

in thousands of 
Denars 

Republic of 
Macedonia 

 
EU 

member 
states  

Europe - 
other  

OECD 
member 
states 

(without EU 
countries-
members  

Other (list separately significant geographical 
segments)  

Unallocated 

 

Total  of OECD             

                  
2015 (Current 
year)                  

Total income 1.036.473  816  -  10  - - - - -  -  1.037.299 

Total assets 16.406.509  1.045.404  -  26.407  - - - - -  -  17.478.320 
                  
2014 (Previous 
year)                  

Total income 1.020.207  2.031  -  23  - - - - -  -  1.022.261 

Total assets 14.232.532  1.821.375  -  19.947  - - - - -  -  16.073.854 
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5. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 
 

Fair value is the amount to exchange certain asset, or settle certain liability under market conditions.  Fair 
value is based on the Management assessment depending on the type of assets and liabilities. 

 
The table below summarizes accounting and fair values of the financial assets and liabilities that are not 
presented in the Balance Sheet by their fair value. 
 

A. Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 

 

 December 31, 2015  December 31, 2014 

in thousands of Denars 

Carrying 
amount  

Fair  
value  

Carrying 
amount  

Fair  
value 

FINANCIAL ASSETS        
Cash and cash equivalents 4.828.225  4.828.225  4.541.170  4.541.170 
Trading assets  -  -  -  - 
Financial assets carried at fair value through 
profit or loss upon initial recognition -  -  -  - 
Derivative assets held for risk management -  -  -  - 
Loans and advances to banks  -  -  -  - 
Loans and advances to customers  9.507.751  9.507.751  8.505.737  8.505.737 
Investments in securities  2.695.714  2.714.705  2.525.647  2.542.728 
Investments in associates -  -     
Income tax receivable (current) -  -  4.407  4.407 
Other receivables  76.122  76.122  134.680  134.680 
Assets pledged as collateral -  -  -  - 
Deferred tax assets -  -  -  - 

        
        
        
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES        
Trading liabilities -  -  -  - 
Financial liabilities carried at a fair value 
through profit and loss at initial recognition  -  -  -  - 
Derivative liabilities held for risk management -  -  -  - 
Due to banks 343.596  343.596  1.255.714  1.255.714 
Due to other customers 11.966.749  11.966.749  9.491.115  9.491.115 
Debt securities issued -  -  -  - 
Borrowings 1.615.373  1.615.373  1.869.394  1.869.394 
Subordinated debt 1.021.080  1.021.080  1.019.444  1.019.444 
Income tax payable (current) 5.229  5.229  -  - 
Deferred tax liabilities -  -  -  - 
Other liabilities  151.430  151.430  141.093  141.093 

        

 
а) Cash and cash equivalents  
 

The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents equals their fair values as they include cash and 
nostro accounts representing unrestricted demand deposits and placements with NBRM, which mature 
shortly. 
 
b) Loans and advances to banks  
 
Receivables from banks include inter-bank loans. Fair value of loans and so-called “overnight” deposits 
due to their short-termed nature is equivalent to their book value. 
 
c) Loans and receivables from other customers 
 
 
Loans are presented under their depreciated value reduced for their impairment provisions. Loans 
approved to clients have predominantly floating interest rate. Their fair value is approximate to their 
book value. 
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5. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued) 
 
A. Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (Continued) 

d) Investments in Held-to-maturity securities 
 
Held-to-maturity securities are assessed by their fair value. Their fair value is based on market prices or 
on brokers’/dealers’ listing prices. If such information is unavailable, their fair value is estimated by using 
market prices for listing securities with similar nature in relation to loan, maturity and earnings. 
 
e) Other financial assets  
 
The fair value of monetary assets comprising cash and cash equivalents, due to their short-term nature, 
is considered to be approximate to their book value. 
 
f) Other receivables 
 
Taking into consideration their short-term maturity, the book value of the other receivables is equivalent 
to their fair value. 
 
g) Deposits and other receivables 
 
Assessed fair value of sight deposits, including interest-free bearing deposits, is the amount repayable 
at sight. 
The fair value of time deposits at variable interest rates is their book value on the balance sheet date. 
 
The book value of loan liabilities does not significantly differ from their fair value, mainly due to the 
variable interest rates and their changing. 
 
h) Other liabilities  
 
Taking into consideration their short-term maturity, the book value of the other liabilities is equivalent to 
their fair value. 
 
 



SPARKASE BANKA MAKEDONIJA AD Skopje 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2015 

Translation of the financial statements issued in the Macedonian language. 
67 

5. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued) 
 
B. Levels of Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities, Measured at Fair Value 
 
B.1. Levels of Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities, Measured at Fair Value 

 

in thousands of Denars  Note  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

December 31, 2015 (Current year)           
Financial assets measured at fair value           
Held-for-trading assets  19  -  -  -  - 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

upon initial recognition  20  -  -  -  - 
Derivative assets held for risk management  21  -  -  -  - 
Investments in available-for-sale securities  23.1  2.714.705  -  -  2.714.705 

           
Total    2.714.705  -  -  2.714.705 

           
Financial liabilities measured at fair value           
Trading liabilities  32  -  -  -  - 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 

loss upon initial recognition  33  -  -  -  - 
Derivative liabilities held for risk management  21  -  -  -  - 

           
Total    -  -  -  - 

           
           
December 31, 2014 (Previous year)           

Financial assets measured at fair value           
Held-for-trading assets  19  -  -  -  - 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

upon initial recognition  20  -  -  -  - 
Derivative assets held for risk management  21  -  -  -  - 
Investments in available-for-sale securities  23.1  2.542.728  -  -  2.542.728 

           
Total     2.542.728  -  -  2.542.728 

           
Financial liabilities measured at fair value           
Trading liabilities  32  -  -  -  - 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 

loss upon initial recognition  33  -  -  -  - 
Derivative liabilities held for risk management  21  -  -  -  - 

           
Total    -  -  -  - 

           
 
 



SPARKASE BANKA MAKEDONIJA AD Skopje 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2015 

Translation of the financial statements issued in the Macedonian language. 
68 

5. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued) 
 
B. Levels of Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities, Measured at Fair Value (Continued) 
 
B.2. Levels of Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities, Measured at Fair Value (Continued) 

 
The Bank classifies the financial assets and liabilities in line with the hierarchy of valuation techniques 
and information whether the necessary valuation inputs are publicly available or not, under which there 
are three levels of fair value hierarchy as follows: 
 

 Level 1 - fair value is determined by direct application/calling on listed market price of the 
financial instruments in an active market. Level 1 includes government bonds and state bills 
issued by the Republic of Macedonia – Ministry of Finance and treasury securities traded on 
the Macedonian Security Market with data on the listed purchase price;    

 Level 2 - fair value is determined by applying valuation techniques containing inputs from active 
markets (the inputs can be directly or indirectly confirmed and follow in the active markets such 
as prices listed in an active market of similar financial instruments, or all significant inputs in the 
model determining fair value may be verified and followed in the active market). In 2015 there 
is no transfer from Level 2 to Level 1 of equity instrument (2014: none); 

 Level 3 - fair value is determined by applying valuation techniques containing inputs that 
cannot be directly or indirectly verified and followed in active markets, or based on valuation 
techniques mainly containing information on risks to financial instruments. In 2015 there is no 
transfer from Level 3 to Level 1 of equity instrument (2014: none); 

 
 

Note 5 B.1 presents quantitative information on financial assets and liabilities classification by hierarchy 
level. 
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5. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued) 
 
B. Levels of Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities, Measured at Fair Value (Continued) 
 
B.3. Transfers between Levels 1 and 2 of Fair Values 

 
 Current year 2015  Previous year 2014 

in thousands of Denars 

transfers 
from level 1 

to level 2  

transfers 
from level 2 

to level 1  

transfers 
from level 1 

to level 2  

transfers 
from level 2 

to level 1 

Financial assets measured at fair value        
Held-for-trading assets -  -  -  - 

Financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss upon initial recognition -  -  -  - 

Derivative assets held for risk management -  -  -  - 

Investments in available-for-sale securities -  -  -  - 

        
Total -  -  -  - 

        
Financial liabilities carried at fair value        
Trading liabilities -  -  -  - 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit 
or loss upon initial recognition -  -  -  - 

Derivative liabilities held for risk 
management -  -  -  - 

        
Total -  -  -  - 
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5. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued) 
 
B. Levels of Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities, Measured at Fair Value (Continued) 
 
B.4. Reconciliation of the Movements in Fair Values Measured at Level 3 during the Year 
  

in thousands of Denars 

Held-for-
trading assets  

Financial 
assets at fair 

value 
through 

profit or loss 
upon initial 
recognition  

Investments 
in available-

for-sale 
securities  Total assets  

Trading 
liabilities  

Financial 
liabilities at 
fair value 
through 

profit or loss 
upon initial 
recognition  

Total 
liabilities 

              
As of January 1, 2014 (Previous year) -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Gains/(losses) recognized in: -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

- Income statement -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
- Other comprehensive income in the period not 

recognized in profit or loss -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Purchase of financial instruments in the period -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Disposals of financial instruments in the period -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Issued financial instruments in the period -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Paid financial instruments in the period -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Reclassified financial instruments to/(from) Level 3 -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Reclassified in loans and advances -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

              
As of December 31, 2014 (Previous year) -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

              
Total gains/(losses) recognized in income statement 
for the assets and liabilities outstanding as of 
December 31, 2014 (Previous year) -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
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5. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued) 
 
B. Levels of Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities, Measured at Fair Value (Continued) 
 
B.5. Reconciliation of the Movements in Fair Values Measured at Level 3 during the Year (Continued) 
  

in thousands of Denars 

Held-for-
trading assets  

Financial 
assets at fair 

value 
through 

profit or loss 
upon initial 
recognition  

Investments 
in available-

for-sale 
securities  Total assets  

Trading 
liabilities  

Financial 
liabilities at 
fair value 
through 

profit or loss 
upon initial 
recognition  

Total 
liabilities 

              
As of January 1, 2015 (Current year)              
Gains/(losses) recognized in: -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

- Income statement -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
- Other comprehensive income in the period not 

recognized in profit or loss -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Purchase of financial instruments in the period -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Disposals of financial instruments in the period -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Issued financial instruments in the period -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Paid financial instruments in the period -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Reclassified financial instruments to/(from) Level 3 -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Reclassified in loans and advances -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

              
As of December 31, 2015 (Current year) -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

              
Total gains/(losses) recognized in income statement 
for the assets and liabilities outstanding as of 
December 31, 2015 (Current year) -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
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6. NET INTEREST INCOME/(EXPENSES) 

 
Interest income and expenses are recognized in the Income Statement for all interest-bearing financial 
assets and liabilities by applying the Effective Interest Rate. 

 
Interest income and expense structure by the type of financial instruments is as follows: 

 
A. Structure of Interest Income and Expense according to the Type of Financial Instrument 

In thousands of Denars 

 

Current  
year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

Interest income    
Cash and cash equivalents -  636 
Financial assets carried at a fair value through profit and loss at initial 
recognition -  - 
Derivative assets held for risk management -  - 
Loans and advances to banks 32.374  24.689 
Loans and advances to customers 554.422  521.586 
Investments in securities 81.171  120.083 
Other receivables 114  125 
(Allowance for impairment of Interest Income, net) 55.241  41.833 
Collected interest previously written off -  - 

Total interest income 723.322  708.952 

    
Interest expense    
Financial liabilities carried at a fair value through profit and loss at 
initial recognition -  - 
Derivative liabilities held for risk management -  - 
Due to banks 1.305  3.165 
Due to other customers 94.229  130.333 
Debt instruments issued -  - 
Borrowings 22.964  26.892 
Subordinated debt 23.404  24.918 
Other liabilities -  - 

Total interest expense 141.902  185.308 

    
Net interest income 581.420  523.644 
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6. NET INTEREST INCOME/(EXPENSES) (Continued) 
 

B. Sector Analysis of Interest Income and Expense according to Sector 

In thousands of Denars 

 

Current  
year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

Interest income    

Non-financial companies 322.609  308.468 
Government 85.154  124.334 
Not for profit institutions that serve to household -  - 
Banks 31.851  25.302 
Other financial institutions (non-banks) 5  1.585 
Households 227.866  207.407 
Non-residents 596  23 
(Allowance for impairment of Interest Income, net) 55.241  41.833 
Collected interest previously written off -  - 

Total interest income 723.322  708.952 

    
Interest expense    
Non-financial companies 25.089  23.228 
Government -  - 
Not for profit institutions that serve to household 67  1.971 
Banks 47.114  53.808 
Other financial institutions (non-banks) 6.763  12.139 
Households 59.344  89.433 
Non-residents 3.525  4.729 

Total interest expense 141.902  185.308 

    
Net interest income 581.420  523.644 

 
 



SPARKASE BANKA MAKEDONIJA AD Skopje 
  
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2015 

Translation of the financial statements issued in the Macedonian language. 
74 

7. NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME 
 

Commission and fee income is recorded on an accrual basis when the service has been provided. 
 

А. Structure of Fee and Commission Income and Expense According to the Type of Financial 
Activity  

In thousands of Denars 

 

Current  
year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

Fee and commission income    

Loans 39.754  44.955 
Payment’s operation -  - 
   domestic 128.253  90.426 
   international 35.236  31.204 
Letter of credit and guarantees 22.705  19.850 
Brokerage operations -  - 
Asset management -  - 
Fiduciary activities 200  581 
Issuing securities -  - 
Other  1.267  1.446 

Total fee and commission income 227.415  188.462 

    
Fee and commission expense    
Loans 6.084  6.298 
Payment operations -  - 
   domestic 38.090  25.331 
   international 44.496  29.093 
Letter of credit and guarantees 256  122 
Brokerage operations -  - 
Asset management -  659 
Fiduciary activities -  - 
Issuing securities -  - 
Other  1.309  6.198 

Total fee and commission expense  90.235  67.701 

    
Net fee and commission income/(expense) 137.180  120.761 
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7. NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME (Continued) 
 
B. Sector Analysis of Fee and Commission Income and Expense 

In thousands of Denars 

 

Current 
year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

Fee and commission income    

Non-financial companies 136.574  105.433 
Government -  - 
Not for profit institutions that serve to household 912  886 
Banks 22  - 
Other financial institutions (non-banks) 6.053  4.561 
Households 75.236  70.082 
Non-residents 8.618  7.500 

Total fee and commission income 227.415  188.462 

    
Fee and commission expense    
Non-financial companies 3.570  50 
Government -  - 
Not for profit institutions that serve to household -  - 
Banks 12.166  13.295 
Other financial institutions (non-banks) 37.150  25.089 
Households 37.349  29.267 

Total fee and commission expense 90.235  67.701 

    
Net fee and commission income/(expense) 137.180  120.761 
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8. TRADING INCOME, NET 
In thousands of Denars 

 

Current 
year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

Trading assets    
Profit/(loss) from fair value changes on debt securities, net    
     realized -  - 
     unrealized -  - 
Profit/(loss) from fair value changes of owned instruments, net     
     realized -  - 
     unrealized -  - 
Income from dividends from trading assets -  - 
Income from interest of trading assets  -  - 
Trading liabilities -  - 
Profit/(loss) from fair value changes on debt securities, net    
     realized -  - 
     unrealized -  - 
Profit/(loss) from fair value changes of trading deposits, net     
     realized -  - 
     unrealized -  - 
Profit/(loss) from fair value changes of remaining financial liabilities 
for trading, net     
     realized -  - 
     unrealized -  - 
Interest expense of  financial liabilities held  for trading -  - 

Profit/(loss) from fair value change of derivatives held for trade, 
net     

     realized -  - 
     unrealized -  - 

    
Net income from trading  -  - 
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9. NET INCOME FROM OTHER FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CARRIED AT FAIR VALUE 
In thousands of Denars 

 

Current  
year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss upon initial 
recognition     
Profit/(loss) from fair value changes on debt securities, net    

     realized -  - 
     unrealized -  - 

Profit/(loss) from fair value changes of owned instruments, net     
     realized -  - 
     unrealized -  - 

Income from dividends from financial assets at fair value through profit 
and loss  -  - 
Profit/(loss) from changes in fair value of loans and  receivables at fair 
value through profit and loss, net     

     realized -  - 
     unrealized -  - 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss upon initial 
recognition     
Profit/(loss) from fair value changes on debt securities, net    

     realized -  - 
     unrealized -  - 

Profit/(loss) from the changes in fair value of deposits at fair value 
through profit and loss, net     

     realized -  - 
     unrealized -  - 

Profit/(loss) from the changes in fair value of borrowings  at fair value 
through profit and loss, net     

     realized -  - 
     unrealized -  - 

Profit/ (loss) from the changes in fair value of other financial liabilities at 
fair value through profit and loss.     

     realized -  - 
     unrealized -  - 

Profit/(loss) from fair value change of derivatives held for risk 
management at the fair value through profit and loss, net     

     realized -  - 
     unrealized -  - 

Net income from other financial instruments at fair value  -  - 
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10. FOREIGN EXCHANGE GAINS/ (LOSSES), NET 
In thousands of Denars 

 

Current  
year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

     
Realized foreign exchange gains/(losses), net  63.250  26.564 
Unrealized foreign exchange gains/(losses), net    

     Foreign exchange differences of allowance for impairment of 
financial assets, net  (1.114)  (2.005) 
     Other foreign exchange differences, net  (14.675)  11.502 

    
Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) 47.461  36.061 

 

Net income and expenses from foreign exchange differences include realized and unrealized foreign 
exchange differences arising from: 
 

 settlement of transactions in foreign currency (monetary and non-monetary) throughout the 
financial year, 

 denominating in Denars of the monetary items in foreign currency at the date of the balance 
sheet. 

 
11. OTHER OPERATING INCOME 

In thousands of Denars 

 

Current  
year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

    

Gains from the sale available-for-sale assets -  - 
Dividends from equity instruments available-for-sale 4.093  4.466 
Net income from investment in subsidiaries and associates -  - 
Capital gain from the sale of:    

   Property and equipment 91  860 
   Intangible assets -  - 
   Foreclosed assets 30.467  16.914 
   Non-current assets held-for-sale and group for disposal -   

Income from rent 1.330  1.331 
Income from litigations -  - 
Collected receivables previously written off  -  - 
Release from the special reserve and provisions for:     

   Off-balance credit exposure -  57.848 
   Contingent commitments based on litigations -  - 
   Pensions and other employee benefits 140  - 
   Restructuring -  - 
   Adverse contracts -  - 
   Other provisions -  - 

 Other (specify revenues that represent more than 10% of total other 
operating income) 2.980  1.367 
Income from adjustments to the calculation of costs for employees -  6.000 

Total other operating income 39.101  88.786 
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12. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS, NET 
            In thousands of Denars 

  

Loans and 
advances to 

banks  

Loans and 
advances to 

other 
customers  

Investment 
in financial  

assets 
available-
for-sale    

Investment 
in financial  
assets held-
to-maturity  

Cash and 
cash 

equivalents  

Fees and 
commision 

received  
Other 

receivables  Total 

                 
2015 (Current year)                 
Allowance for impairment, on individual basis                 
Additional allowance for impairment  -  657.692  -  -  -  -  10.355  668.047 
(Release of allowance for impairment)  -  (486.581)  -  -  -  -  (1.349)  (487.930) 

  -  171.111  -  -  -  -  9.006  180.117 
                 
Allowance for impairment, on group basis                  
Additional allowance for impairment  -  19.529  -  -  -  -  -  19.529 
(Release of allowance for impairment)  -  (13.013)  -  -  -  -  -  (13.013) 

  -  6.516  -  -  -  -  -  6.516 

Total allowance for impairment on financial 
assets, net  -  177.627  -  -  -  -  9.006  186.633 

                 
2014 (Previous year)                 
Allowance for impairment, on individual basis                 
Additional allowance for impairment  -  411.568  2.184  -  -  5.215  3.163  422.130 
(Release of allowance for impairment)  -  (166.920)  -  -  -  -  (19.650)  (186.570) 

  -  244.648  2.184  -  -  5.215  (16.487)  235.560 
                 
Allowance for impairment, on group basis                                 
Additional allowance for impairment  -  11.205  -  -  -  -  -  11.205 
(Release of allowance for impairment)  -  (12.637)  -  -  -  -  -  (12.637) 

  -  (1.432)  -  -  -  -  -  (1.432) 

Total allowance for impairment on financial 
assets, net  -  243.216  2.184  -  -  5.215  (16.487)  234.128 
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13. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS, NET 

In thousands of Denars 

Property and 
equipment  

Intangible 
assets а  

Foreclosed 
assets  

Non-current 
assets held-for-
sale and group  

for disposal  
Other non-

financial assets  Total 

2015 (Current year)            
Additional impairment losses -  -  1.020  -  -  1.020 

(Release of impairment losses) -  -    -  -   

Total impairment losses of non-financial 
assets, net -  -  1.020  -  -  1.020 

            
2014 (Previous year)            
Additional impairment losses -  -  3.962  -  -  3.962 

(Release of impairment losses) -  -    -  -   

Total impairment losses of non-financial 
assets, net -  -  3.962  -  -  3.962 

 
 
 



SPARKASE BANKA MAKEDONIJA AD Skopje 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2015 

Translation of the financial statements issued in the Macedonian language. 
81 

14. PERSONNEL EXPENSES 
In thousands of Denars 

 

Current  
year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

Short term employee benefits    

Salaries 152.328  140.260 
Mandatory contribution for social and health insurance 73.401  67.856 
Short-term paid leave of absence 1.556  1.784 
Expenses for temporary employment 7.910  4.924 
Share in profit and remuneration -  - 
Non-monetary benefits -  - 

 235.195  214.824 
Benefits after termination of employment    
Contribution to pension plans for defined contributions -  - 
Retirement benefits -  - 
Increasing of the obligation for retirement benefits -  - 
Increasing of the obligation for other long-term benefits -  - 
Other benefits after termination of employment  -  - 

 -  - 

    
Benefits due to termination of employment    
Employee payments based on shares, settled with owned instruments -  - 
Employee share-based payments, settled in cash  -  - 
Other (list separately those staff costs representing more than 10% of 

total staff costs) 12.850  7.271 
Expenses for appreciations and awards to employees 9.872  - 
New Year's remuneration 9.054  6.363 

 
Total personnel expenses 266.971  228.458 
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15. DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION 
In thousands of Denars 

 

Current  
year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

Amortization of intangible assets     

Internally developed software -  - 
Software purchased from external suppliers 4.065  10.296 
Other internally developed intangible assets -  - 
Other intangible assets -  - 
Investment in intangible assets under lease -  - 

 4.065  10.296 
Amortization of property and equipment    
Construction objects 8.426  8.425 
Transport vehicles 4.968  2.846 
Furniture and office equipment 22.948  17.632 
Other equipment -  - 
Other items of property and equipment  -  - 
Investment in property and equipment under lease -  - 

 36.342  28.903 

    
Total depreciation 40.407  39.199 

  
 

 16. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES  
In thousands of Denars 

 

Current  
year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

    

Losses on sale of assets available-for-sale -  - 
Expenses for software licensing 4.375  1.739 
Insurance premiums on deposits  28.687  30.461 
Insurance premiums on property and employees 10.021  8.330 

Materials and services 86.601  87.760 
Administrative and marketing expenses 42.591  35.988 
Other taxes and contributions 5.440  7.834 
Rent 34.092  35.406 
Litigation expenses 1.900  3.685 
Special reserve for off-balance exposure, net 11.054  - 
Provisions for pensions and other employee benefits 1.229  3.067 
Provisions for contingent commitments based on litigation, net  -  - 
Other provisions  -  - 
Loss from the sale of: -  - 
  Property and equipment -  1 
  Intangible assets -  - 
  Foreclosed assets -  - 

Non-current assets held-for-sale and group for disposal -  - 
Other: 8.077  7.003 

Expenses for IT Project -  13.854 

Total other operating expenses 234.067  235.128 
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17. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 
 

А. Expenses/Income based on Current and Deferred Income Tax 
In thousands of Denars 

 

Current  
year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

Current income tax    
Expense /(income) for current income tax for the year 10.438  576 
Adjustments for previous year -  - 
Benefits from previously unrecognized tax losses, tax balance or 
temporary differences from previous years  

- 
 

- 

Changes in accounting policies and errors -  - 
Other -  - 

 10.438  576 
Deferred income tax     
Deferred income tax that arises from temporary differences for the 
year 

- 
 

- 

Recognition of previously unrecognized tax losses -  - 
Changes in the tax rate -  - 
Introducing new taxes -  - 
Benefits from previously unrecognized tax losses, balance or 
temporary differences from previous years 

- 
 

- 

Other -  - 

 -  - 

    
Total income tax expenses/(returns) 10.438  576 

 
 

In thousands of Denars 

 

Current  
year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

Current income tax    
Recognized in profit and loss 10.438  576 
Recognized in equity -  - 

 10.438  576 
Deferred income tax     
Recognized in profit and loss -  - 
Recognized in equity -  - 

 -  -  

     
Total income tax expenses/(returns) 10.438  576 
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17. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 
 

B. Reconciliation of the Effective Average Tax Rate with the Applicable Tax Rate 
 

In %  

In 
thousands of 

Denars  In%  
In thousands 

of Denars 

 Current year 2015  Previous year 2014 

        

Profit/(loss) before taxation   76.064    28.377 

Income tax in accordance with the 
applicable tax rate  10,00  7.606  10,00  2.838 

Effect from various tax rates in other 
countries        

Adjustments for previous years and 
changes in the tax rate        

 Taxed income from abroad        

Expenses unrecognized for tax purposes 5,75  4.374  11,25  3.191 

Tax exempted income (2,03)  (1.542)  (19,22)  (5.453) 

Tax exemptions unrecognized in the 
income statement        

Recognition of previously unrecognized tax 
losses         

Benefits from previously unrecognized tax 
losses, tax balance or temporary 
differences from previous years         

Changes of deferred tax        

Other        

Total expenses/(return) of income tax   10.438    576 

Average effective tax rate 13,72    2,03   

 

For the fiscal year 2015 and 2014 the Bank made calculation and payment of income tax pursuant to the 
changes of the Law on Income Tax i.e. 10 % to the tax base, comprised of the realized income, 
increased by the expenses non-deductible and decreased by the revenues non-allowable for tax 
purposes. 
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17. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 
 

C. Income tax from other profit/ (losses) in the period which are not disclosed in the Income statement  

 
 Current year 2015  Previous year 2014 

In thousands of Denars 
Before taxation  

(expenditure)/ 
return of income 

tax 
 Less income tax  Before taxation  

(expenditure)/ 
return of income 

tax 
 Less income tax 

            
Revalued reserve for assets available for sale -  -  -  -  -  - 
Reserve for instruments for protection against 
cash flow risk -  -  -  -  -  - 
Reserve for instruments for protection against 
the risk net-investment in international 
operations -  -  -  -  -  - 
Reserve from currency differences from 
investment in international operations -  -  -  -  -  - 
Share in the remaining profits/(losses) from 
affiliates which are not disclosed in the Income 
statement -  -  -  -  -  - 
Other profits/(losses) which are not disclosed in 
the Income statement -  -  -  -  -  - 

            
Total other profits/(losses) which are not 
disclosed in the Income statement -  -  -  -  -  - 
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18. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with 
maturity less than 3 months from the date of acquisition including cash and balances with the Central 
Bank. 
 
Treasury bills with maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition are included in the 
position "Treasury bills which can be traded on the secondary market". 
 
Cash and cash equivalents are recorded at amortized cost. It is usually equal to their nominal value. 

 
In thousands of Denars 

 

Current  
year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

    
Cash on hand 335.606  187.602 
Accounts and deposits with NBRM, except for mandatory reserves in 
foreign currency 2.108.935  667.630 
Current accounts and deposits with foreign banks 1.075.677  1.771.887 
Current accounts and deposits with domestic banks 3.772  2.747 
Treasury bills  traded on the secondary market 791.073  1.362.912 
Government bills traded on the secondary market -  - 
Time deposits with maturities less than, or equal to three months  -  70.256 
Other short-term highly liquid assets 1.497  1.356 
Receivables based in interest -  - 
(allowance for impairment loss) -  - 

Included in cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the 
statement of cash flows 4.316.560  4.064.390 

Obligatory foreign currency reserves  511.665  476.780 
Restricted deposits -  - 

(allowance for impairment loss) -  
                        

- 

    
Total 4.828.225  4.541.170 

 
In thousands of Denars 

 

Current  
year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

Movement of allowance for impairment    
On January 1 -  - 
Allowance for impairment for the year    

  Additional allowance for impairment -  - 
  (release from allowance for impairment) -  - 

Effect of foreign exchange differences  -  - 
(Written off receivables) -  - 

    
On December 31 -  - 

 
Mandatory reserves in foreign currency in the amount of Denar 511.665 thousand (2014: Denars 
476.780 thousand) represents the prescribed amount of deposits allocated in accordance with the 
Decision on mandatory reserves adopted by NBRM. Mandatory reserves in foreign currency are based 
on the average amount of monthly deposits in foreign currency. These reserves are non-interest 
bearing. 
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18. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued) 

Accounts and deposits with NBRM, except for mandatory reserves in foreign currency in the amount of 
Denar 2.108.935 thousand (2014: Denars 667.630 thousand) include mandatory reserve in Denars in 
the amount of Denars 658.915 thousand (2014: Denars 667.630 thousand) and deposit in the amount of 
Denar 1.450.020 thousand (2014: nil), with maturity until January 5, 2016 and an interest rate of 0.5%. 
The mandatory reserve in Denars is non-interest bearing.  

Treasury bills traded on the secondary market in the amount of Denar 791.073 thousand (2014: Denar 
1.362.912 thousand) represent bills issued by NBRM with maturity of 28 days and interest at the rate of 
3,25% (2014: 3,25%) per annum. 

 
 
19. HELD-FOR-TRADING ASSETS  

 
А. Structure of the trading assets according to the type of the financial instrument 

 
In thousands of Denars 

 

Current  
year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

Trading securities    
Debt securities for trading    
Treasury bills for trading -  - 
Government bills for trading -  - 
Other instruments on the money market -  - 
Bonds issued by government -  - 
Corporate bonds -  - 
Other debt instruments -  - 

 -  - 
Quoted -  - 
Unquoted   -  - 
    
Equity instruments for trading    

Equity instruments issued by banks -  - 
Other equity instruments -  - 

 -  - 
Quoted -  - 
Unquoted   -  - 
    
Derivatives for trading    

Contracts dependent on the change of interest rate -  - 
Contracts dependent on the change of exchange rate -  - 
Contracts dependent on the change of price of securities -  - 
Other contracts that meet the criteria IAS 39  -  - 

 -  - 

    
Total trading assets -  - 
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19. HELD-FOR-TRADING ASSETS (Continued) 

 
B. Reclassified Trading Assets  

 
B.1 Condition of reclassified trading assets 
 

   Current year 2015  Previous year 2014 

In thousands of Denars 

Reclassified 
amount (date of 
reclassification)  

Carrying amount  
December 31, 
2015 (Current 

year)  

Fair value 
December 31, 
2015 (Current 

year)  

Carrying amount  
December 31,2014 

(Previous year)  

Fair value 
December 31,  

2014 (Previous 
year) 

Trading assets reclassified in 2015 (Current year) 
in:          

- financial assets available for sale -  -  -  -  - 
- loans and advances to banks -  -  -  -  - 
- loans and advances to other clients -  -  -  -  - 

          
 -  -  -  -  - 

          
Trading assets reclassified in 2014 (Previous year) 
in:          

- financial assets available for sale -  -  -  -  - 
- loans and advances to banks -  -  -  -  - 
- loans and advances to other clients -  -  -  -  - 

          
 -  -                              -  -  - 
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19. HELD-FOR-TRADING ASSETS (Continued) 
 

B. Reclassified Trading Assets (Continued) 
 
B.2 Gains and losses from reclassification of trading assets 

 

 
Reclassified during 2015 (Current 

year)  Reclassified during 2014 (Previous year) 

In thousands of Denars 

Income statement 
2015 (Current 

year)  

Other gains/ 
(losses) 2015 
(Current year)  

Income statement 
2015 (Current 

year)  

Other gains/ 
(losses) 2015 
(Current year)  

Income statement 
2014 (Previous 

year)  

Other gains/ 
(losses) 2014 

(Previous year) 

Period before reclassification            
Trading assets reclassified in financial assets 
available for sale -  -  -  -  -  - 

- net-income from trading -  -  -  -  -  - 
Trading assets reclassified in loans and advances 
from banks -  -  -  -  -  - 

- net-income from trading -  -  -  -  -  - 
Trading assets reclassified in loans and advances 
from other clients -  -  -  -  -  - 

- net-income from trading -  -  -  -  -  - 

 -  -  -  -  -  - 

Period after reclassification     -       
Trading assets reclassified in financial assets 
available for sale -  -  -  -  -  - 

- interest income -  -  -  -  -  - 
- impairment of the value of the financial assets, 

on net-basis -  -  -  -  -  - 
- changes in the fair value, on net-basis -  -  -  -  -  - 

Trading assets reclassified in loans and advances 
from banks -  -  -  -  -  - 

- interest income -  -  -  -  -  - 
- impairment of the value of the financial assets, 

on net-basis -  -  -  -  -  - 
Trading assets reclassified in loans and advances 
from other clients -  -  --  -  -  - 

- interest income -  -  -  -  -  - 
- impairment of the value of the financial assets, 

on net-basis -  -  -  -  -  - 

 -  -  -  -  -  - 
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19. HELD-FOR-TRADING ASSETS (Continued) 

 
B. Reclassified Trading Assets (Continued) 

 
B.3 Gains or losses which would have been recognized in the Income Statement if the assets have not been reclassified 
 

  
Reclassified during 
2015 (Current year)  Reclassified during 2014 (Previous year) 

In thousands of Denars  
Income statement 2015 

(Current year)  
Income statement 2015 

(Current year)  
Income statement 2014 

(Previous year) 

       

Trading assets reclassified in financial assets available for sale  -  -  - 
- net-income from trading  -  -  - 

Trading assets reclassified in loans and advances from banks  -  -  - 
- net-income from trading  -  -  - 

Trading assets reclassified in loans and advances from other clients  -  -  - 
- net-income from trading  -  -  - 

       
  -  -  - 
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20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS AT INITIAL RECOGNITION 
In thousands of Denars 

 

Current 
 year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

Debt securities for trading    
Treasury bills for trading -  - 
Government bills for trading -  - 
Other instruments on the money market -  - 
Bonds issued by government -  - 
Corporate bonds -  - 
Other debt instruments -  - 

 -  - 
    

    Quoted -  - 
    Unquoted   -  - 

    
Equity instruments for trading    

Equity instruments issued by banks -  - 
Other equity instruments -  - 

 -  - 
    

    Quoted -  - 
    Unquoted   -  - 

    
Loans and advances to banks -  - 
Loans and advances to other clients -  - 

Total financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, at initial 
recognition  -  - 
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21. DERIVATIVE ASSETS HELD FOR RISK MANAGEMENT 
      In thousands of Denars 
  Current year 2015  Previous year 2014 

  
derivative 

assets  
(derivative 
liabilities)  

derivative 
assets  

(derivative 
liabilities) 

А. 
Derivatives for risk protection/ Derivatives 
held for risk management         

А.1 According to type of variability        
 Derivatives held for risk management        

 
Contracts dependent on the change of interest 
rate -  -  -  - 

 
Contracts dependent on the change of 
exchange rate   -  -  -  - 

 
Contracts dependent on the change of price of 
securities   -  -  -  - 

 Other contracts that meet the criteria of IAS 39  -  -  -  - 

 Total derivatives held for risk management -  -  -  - 

         
А.2 According to risk protection        
 Fair value risk protection -  -  -  - 

 Cash flow risk protection -  -  -  - 

 
Risk protection of net investment in foreign 
operations  -  -  -  - 

 Total derivatives held for risk management -  -  -  - 

         
B. Embedded derivatives        

 
Contracts dependent on the change of interest 
rate -  -  -  - 

 
Contracts dependent on the change of 
exchange rate   -  -  -  - 

 
Contracts dependent on the change of price of 
securities   -  -  -  - 

 Other contracts that meet the criteria of IAS 39  -  -  -  - 

 Total embedded derivatives  -  -  -  - 

 Total derivatives held for risk management -  -  -  - 
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22. LOANS AND ADVANCES  

 
22.1 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO BANKS 

     In thousands of Denars 
 Current year 2015  Previous year 2014 

 Short-term  Long-term  Short-term  Long-term 

        

Loans to banks        
   Domestic banks -  -  -  - 
   Foreign banks -  -  -  - 

Time deposits, maturity over  three 
months        

   Domestic banks -  -  -  - 
   Foreign banks -  -  -  - 

Repo         
   Domestic banks -  -  -  - 
   Foreign banks -  -  -  - 

Other receivables        
   Domestic banks -  -  -  - 
   Foreign banks -  -  -  - 

Interest based receivables -  -  -  - 
Current maturity -  -  -  - 

Total loans and advances to banks 
before allowance for impairment -  -  -  - 
(Allowance for impairment) -  -  -  - 

Total loans and receivables from 
banks less allowance for impairment -  -  -  - 

 
 

In thousands of Denars 

 Current year  
Previous 

year 

 2015  2014 

Movement of allowance for impairment    
Balance at January 1 -  - 
Allowance for impairment for the year -  - 

  Additional allowance for impairment -  - 
  (release of allowance for  impairment) -  - 

Effect of foreign exchange differences -  - 
(Written - off receivables)   -  - 

    
Balance at December 31 -  - 
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22. LOANS AND ADVANCES (Continued) 
 
22.2 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO OTHER CUSTOMERS 

 
А. Structure of loans and advances to other customers by type of customer 

     In thousands of Denars 
 Current year 2015  Previous year 2014 

 Short-term  Long-term  Short-term  Long-term 

        

Non-financial entities        

    principal amount 1.401.638  4.998.756  1.159.111  5.438.401 
    interest receivables 21.990  -  25.860  - 

Government        

    principal amount -  103.646  -  85.862 
    interest receivables 382  -  484  - 

Not for profit institutions that serve to 
households -  -  -  - 
    principal amount -  -  -  - 
    interest receivables -  -  -  - 

Financial entities, apart from banks        

    principal amount -  11.042  14.000  10.973 
    Interest receivables -  -  -  - 

Households        

    principal amount        
    housing loans 728  2.054.732  701  1.569.969 
    consumer loans 7.673  1.501.754  3.510  967.340 
    auto loans 106  4.567  205  11.789 
    mortgages 179  37.216  -  - 
    credit cards  233.909  75.200  201.681  118.696 
    other loans  3.033  547.472  3.467  627.895 

    interest receivables 13.990  -  11.777  - 
Non-residents, apart from banks        

    principal amount 648  -  -  - 
    interest receivables -  -  -  - 

Current maturity 1.785.921  (1.785.921)                  1.337.136  (1.337.136) 

Total loans and advances to other 
customers before allowance for 
impairment 3.470.197  7.548.464  2.757.932  7.493.789 

(Allowance for impairment) (164.948)  (1.345.962)  (895.409)  (850.575) 

Total loans and receivables from other 
Customers  less allowance for 
impairment 3.305.249  6.202.502  1.862.523  6.643.214 
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22. LOANS AND ADVANCES (Continued) 
 
22.2 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO OTHER CUSTOMERS (Continued)  

 
А. Structure of loans and advances to other customers by type of customer (Continued) 

In thousands of Denars 

 

Current 
year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

Movements of allowance for impairment, individual basis    
Balance at January 1 1.699.106   1.492.887 
    
Allowance for impairment for the year    

  additional allowance for impairment 657.692  411.568  
  (release of allowance for impairment) (486.581)  (166.920)  
(Foreclosed assets) (209.618)  (38.683) 

Effect of foreign exchange differences (619)  254 
(Written-off receivables)   (202.464)  - 

Balance at December 31 1.457.516   1.699.106  

    
Movements of allowance for impairment, group basis    
Balance at January 1 46.878  48.310 
Allowance for impairment for the year    

  additional allowance for impairment 19.529  11.205 
  (release of allowance for impairment) (13.013)  (12.637) 

Effect of foreign exchange differences -  - 
(Written-off receivables)  -  - 

Balance at December 31 53.394  46.878 

Total loans and advances from other customers less allowance for 
impairment 1.510.910   1.745.984  

 
 

Б. Structure of loans and advances to other customers by type of security 
In thousands of Denars 

 Current year  
Previous 

year 

 2015  2014 

First class security instruments    

(current carrying amount of loans and advances)    
First class security instruments     

Cash deposits (in depot and/or limited bank accounts) 649.777  612.367 
  Government securities -  - 
  Government unconditional guarantees -  - 
  Bank guarantees -  - 

Guarantees from insurance companies and insurance policies -  - 
Corporate guarantees (apart from banking and insurance companies) -  - 
Guarantees from individuals -  - 
Property pledge    

  Property for own use (apartments and houses) 2.737.998  2.400.403 
  Property for operating activities 2.776.864  2.874.090 

Moveable Property pledge 468.673  361.325 
Other types of guarantees 236.094  248.783 
Unsecured 2.638.345  2.008.769 

Total loans and advances from other clients less allowance for 
impairment 9.507.751  8.505.737 
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22. LOANS AND ADVANCES (Continued) 
 
22.2 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO OTHER CUSTOMERS (Continued)  

 
Risks and Uncertainties 

 
The Bank has recorded provisions for impairment losses for all known and foreseeable risks as of the 
date of the financial statements. 
 
The Bank’s portfolio contains a number of debtors whose ability to service and repay their debts has 
been impacted by economic developments in the Republic of Macedonia.  
 
The Bank continues to be collateralized primarily by real estate, buildings and equipment for corporate 
loans and in the case of retail loans depending on the type of loan product. 
 
Subject to classification of loans, the Bank strictly commits for timely realization of collateral instruments. 
In case this fails it will be necessary that additional provisions are realized in the future for impairment 
losses. 
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23. INVESTMENTS IN SECURITIES 

 
23.1 INVESTMENTS IN FINANCIAL ASSETS AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE 

 
А. Structure of investments in financial assets available for sale according to the type of the 

financial instrument 

 
In thousands of Denars 

 

Current 
 year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

Debt securities    
   Treasury bills -  - 
   Government bills 462.594  1.412.913 
   Other instruments on the money market -  - 
   Government issued bonds 1.782.375  1.068.208 
   Corporate bonds -  - 
   Other debt instruments 406.219  - 

 2.651.188  2.481.121 

     
   Quoted 406.219  - 
   Unquoted 2.244.969  2.481.121 

    
Equity instruments for trading     

   Equity instruments issued by banks -  - 
   Other equity instruments 57.007  57.007 

 57.007  57.007 

    
   Quoted 23.217  32.391 
   Unquoted 33.790  24.616 

Total investment in financial instruments available-for-sale before 
allowance for impairment 2.708.195  2.538.128 

(Allowance for impairment) (12.481)  (12.481) 

Total investment in financial instruments available-for-sale less 
allowance for impairment 2.695.714  2.525.647 

 
In thousands of Denars 

 

Current 
 year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

Movements of allowance for impairment    
Balance at January 1 12.481  10.297 
    
Allowance for impairment for the year:    

  additional allowance for impairment -  2.184 
  (release of allowance for impairment) -  - 

Effect of foreign exchange differences -  - 
(Written-off receivables) -  - 

    
Balance at December 31  12.481  12.481 

 
Investments in securities consist of investments in financial assets available for sale. They consist of 
government bills with maturities over 90 days, government bonds issued by the state, other debt 
instruments and other equity instruments. 
 
Government bills in the amount of Denars 462.594 thousand (2014: Denars 1.412.913 thousand), 
issued by the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Macedonia, are denominated in Denars, bear 
interest at the rate of 1.35% to 2.00% and have maturity over 90 days. 
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23. INVESTMENTS IN SECURITIES 

 
23.1 INVESTMENTS IN FINANCIAL ASSETS AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE 

(Continued) 

 
А. Structure of investments in financial assets available for sale according to the type of the 

financial instrument (Continued) 

 
Government bonds in the amount of Denars 1.782.375 thousand (2014: Denars 1.068.208 thousand) 
issued by the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Macedonia are denominated in Denars in the 
amount of Denar 718.175 thousand (2014: Denars 5,963 thousand) and in Euros in the amount of 
Denar 1.064.200 thousand (2014: Denar 1.062.245 thousand). These bonds bear an interest at the rate 
of 2,25% to 5,5% and have maturity over 1 year. 
 
Other debt instruments in the amount of Denars 406.219 thousand (2014: nil) were issued by the 
Republic of Austria and are denominated in Euros. These debt instruments have maturity up to October 
20, 2023 and bear interest at the rate of 1,75%. 
 
Equity instruments in the amount of Denar 57.007 thousand (2014: Denar 57.007 thousand) include 
investments in the share capital of S – Lising DOO Skopje in the amount of Denar 6.765 thousand 
(2014: Denar 6.765 thousand), which represents 10% from the total number of vote shares of the 
company. 
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23. INVESTMENTS IN SECURITIES (Continued) 

 
23.1 INVESTMENTS IN FINANCIAL ASSETS AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE (Continued) 

 

B. Reclassified financial assets available for sale 

 

B.1 Condition of reclassified assets available for sale 

 
   Current year 2015  Previous year 2014 

In thousands of Denars 

Reclassified 
amount (date of 
reclassification)  

Carrying amount 
December 31, 
2015 (Current 

year)  

Fair value 
December 31,  
2015 (Current 

year)  

Carrying amount 
December 31,2014 

(Previous year)  

Fair value 
December 31, 

2014 (Previous 
year) 

Assets available for sale reclassified in 2015 
(current year) in:          

- loans and advances to banks -  -  -  -  - 
- loans and advances to other clients -  -  -  -  - 

          
 -  -  -  -  - 

          
Assets available for sale reclassified in 2014 
(previous year) in:          

- loans and advances to banks -  -  -  -  - 
- loans and advances to other clients -  -  -  -  - 

          
 -  -  -  -  - 
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23. INVESTMENTS IN SECURITIES (Continued) 

 
23.1 INVESTMENTS IN FINANCIAL ASSETS AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE (Continued) 

 

B. Reclassified financial assets available for sale (Continued) 

 
B.2 Gains and losses from the reclassified assets available for sale 
 

In thousands of Denars 

Income statement 
2015 (Current 

year)  

Other gains/ 
(losses) 2015 
(Current year)  

Income statement 
2014 (Previous 

year)  

Other gains/ 
(losses) 2014 

(Previous year) 

Period before reclassification        
Assets available for sale reclassified in loans and advances from banks        

- Interest income -  -  -  - 
- Impairment of the financial assets, on net-basis -  -  -  - 
- changes in the fair value, on net-basis -  -  -  - 

Assets available for sale reclassified in loans and advances from other clients        
- Interest income -  -  -  - 
- Impairment of the financial assets, on net-basis -  -  -  - 
- changes in the fair value, on net-basis -  -  -  - 

 -  -  -  - 

Period after reclassification        
Assets available for sale reclassified in loans and advances from banks        

- Interest income -  -  -  - 
- Impairment of the financial assets, on net-basis -  -  -  - 
- Amounts reversed from revaluation reserves -  -  -  - 

Assets available for sale reclassified in loans and advances from other clients        

- Interest income -  -  -  - 
- Impairment of the financial assets, on net-basis -  -  -  - 
- Changes in the fair value, on net-basis -  -  -  - 
- Amounts reversed from revaluation reserves -  -  -  - 

 -  -  -  - 
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23. INVESTMENTS IN SECURITIES (Continued) 

 
23.1 INVESTMENTS IN FINANCIAL ASSETS AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE (Continued) 

 

B. Reclassified financial assets available for sale (Continued) 

 
B.3 Gains or losses which would have been recognized if the assets have not been reclassified 
 

In thousands of Denars 

Income statement 
2015 (Current 

year)  

Other gains/ 
(losses) 2015 
(Current year)  

Income statement 
2014 (Previous 

year)  

Other gains/ 
(losses) 2014 

(Previous year) 

Assets available for sale reclassified in loans and advances from banks        

- Interest income -  -  -  - 
- impairment of the financial assets, on net-basis -  -  -  - 
- changes in fair value, on net-basis -  -  -  - 

Assets available for sale reclassified in loans and advances from other clients        

- Interest income -  -  -  - 
- changes in the value of the financial assets, on net-basis -  -  -  - 
- changes in fair value, on net-basis -  -  -  - 
- Amounts reversed from revaluation reserves -  -  -  - 

 -  -  -  - 
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23. INVESTMENTS IN SECURITIES (Continued) 

 
23.2 INVESTMENTS IN SECURITIES HELD-TO-MATURITY 
 

In thousands of Denars 

 

Current  
year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

Debt securities    
   Treasury bills -   - 
   Government bills -  - 
   Other instruments on the money market -  - 
   Government issued bonds -  - 
   Corporate bonds -  - 
   Other debt instruments -  - 

 -  - 
    

  Quoted -  - 
  Unquoted -  - 

Total investment in financial instruments held-to-maturity before 
allowance for impairment -  - 

(Allowance for impairment) -  - 

Total investment in financial instruments available held-to-
maturity less allowance for impairment -  - 

 

 
In thousands of Denars 

 

Current  
year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

Movements of allowance for impairment    
Balance at January 1 -  - 
Allowance for impairment for the year: -  - 

  additional allowance for impairment -  - 
   (release of allowance for impairment) -  - 

Foreign exchange differences -  - 
(Written-off receivables) -  - 

    
Balance at December 31 -  - 
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24. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES  
 
А. Percentage of the Bank’s interest in subsidiaries and associates 
 

    In % 

    
Percentage of interest in 

ownership  Percentage of voting right 

 
Name of subsidiaries and associates 

 
 

Country  
Current year 

2015  
Previous year 

2014  
Current year 

2015  
Previous year 

2014 

 -  -  -  -  - 
 
B. Financial information of associates-100% 

 
      In thousands of Denars 
 
 
 
Name of associates  Total assets  

Total 
liabilities  

Total equity 
and reserves  Income  

Profit/(loss) for 
the financial 

year 

           
Current year 2015 -  -  -  -  - 
Previous year 2014 -  -  -  -  - 
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25. OTHER RECEIVABLES 
In thousands of Denars 

 

Current  
year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

    

Trade receivables 7.484  21.586 
Prepaid expenses 28.569  36.456 
Deferred income -  - 
Fees and commission receivables 20.511  20.354 
Receivables from the employees 636  791 
Advances for intangible assets -  - 
Advances for property and equipment -  - 
Other (specify receivables representing more than 10% of total other 
receivables) -  - 

Small inventory 5.378  10.698 
Other receivables frm banks 21.011  21.341 
Receivables for VAT 3.589  19.309 
Other receivables 23.334  29.576 

Total other receivables before allowance for impairment 110.512  160.111 

(allowance for impairment) (34.390)  (25.431) 

Total other receivables less allowance for impairment 76.122  134.680 

 
 

In thousands of Denars 

 

Current  
year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

Movement of allowance for impairment    

Balance at January 1 25.431  34.951 
    
Allowance for impairment for the year:    

  additional allowance for impairment 10.355  8.378 
 (release of allowance for impairment) (1.349)  (19.650) 

Effect of foreign exchange differences 1.763  1.752 
(Written-off receivables) (1.810)  - 

    
Balance at December 31  34.390  25.431 

 
 
26. ASSETS PLEDGED AS COLLATERAL 

In thousands of Denars 

 

Current  
year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

    
Debt securities -  - 
Equity instruments -  - 

    
Total pledged assets -  - 
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27. FORECLOSED ASSETS  

In thousands of Denars Land  Buildings  Equipment  

Residential 
facilities and 
apartments  Other   Total 

            
Cost            
Balance as of January 1, 2014 (Previous year) 2.819  186.023  18.081  5.299  -  212.222 
Foreclosed during the year -  -  -  -  -  - 
(sold during the year) -               (54.056)  -  -  -  (54.056) 
(transfer to own assets) -  -  -  -  -  - 

Balance as of December 31, 2014 (Previous year) 2.819  131.967  18.081  5.299  -  158.166 

            
Balance as of January 1, 2015 (Current year) 2.819  131.967  18.081  5.299  -  158.166 
Foreclosed during the year -  34.405  -  -  -  34.405 
(sold during the year) -  (26.676)  -  -  -  (26.676) 
(transfer to own assets) -  -  -  -  -  - 

Balance as of December 31, 2015 (Current year) 2.819  139.696  18.081  5.299  -  165.895 

            
Impairment            
Balance as of January 1, 2014 (Previous year) 2.819  178.321  18.081  5.299  -  204.520 
Impairment loss during the year -  3.962  -  -  -  3.962 
(sold during the year) -  (54.056)  -  -  -  (54.056) 
(transfer to own assets) -  -  -  -  -  - 

Balance as of December 31, 2014 (Previous year) 2.819  128.227  18.081  5.299  -  154.426 

            
Balance as of January 1, 2015 (Current year) 2.819  128.227  18.081  5.299  -  154.426 
Impairment loss during the year -  1.020  -  -  -  1.020 
(sold during the year) -  -  -  -  -  - 
(transfer to own assets) -  -  -  -  -  - 

Balance as of December 31, 2015 (Current year) 2.819  129.247  18.081  5.299  -  155.446 

            
Current carrying amount as of            
  January 1, 2014 (Previous year) -  7.702  -  -  -  7.702 

  December 31, 2014 (Previous year) -  3.740  -  -  -  3.740 

  December 31, 2015 (Current year) -  10.449  -  -  -  10.449 
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28. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 
А. Reconciliation of the current carrying amount 

In thousands of Denars 

Internally 
developed 
software  

Acquired 
software 

from 
external 

suppliers  

Other 
internally 
developed 
intangible 

assets 

 

Other 
intangible 

assets  

Investments in 
intangible 

assets 
under lease  

Non-controlling 
interests  Total 

              

Cost              
Balance as of January 1, 2014 -  60.547  -  -  -  -  60.547 

Increase through new acquisitions -  3.513  -  12.913  -  -  16.426 
Increase through internal development -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Increase through business combinations -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
(Disposal and write off) -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
(Disposal through business combinations) -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
(Transfer to non-current assets held-for-sale) -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Transfer from non-current assets held-for-sale -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Balance as of December 31, 2014 -  64.060  -  12.913  -  -  76.973 

              
Balance as of January 1, 2015 -  64.060  -  12.913  -  -  76.973 

Increase through new acquisitions -  13.298  -  -  -  -  13.298 
Increase through internal development -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Increase through business combinations -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
(Disposal and write off) -  -  -  (299)  -  -  (299) 
(Disposal through business combinations) -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
(Transfer  to non-current assets held-for-sale) -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Transfer from non-current assets held-for-sale -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Balance as of December 31, 2015 -  77.358  -  12.614  -  -  89.972 
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28. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 
 
А. Reconciliation of the current carrying amount (Continued) 

 

In thousands of Denars 

Internally 
developed 
software  

Acquired 
software 

from 
external 

suppliers  

Other 
internally 
developed 
intangible 

assets 

 

Other 
intangible 

assets  

Investments in 
intangible 

assets 
under lease  

Non-controlling 
interests  Total 

              

Depreciation and impairment              

Balance as of January 1,2014 -  46.018  -  -  -  -  46.018 
Depreciation for the year -  9.174  -  -  -  -  9.174 
Impairment loss during the year -  1.122  -  -  -  -  1.122 
(Release of impairment loss during the year) -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
(Disposal and write off) -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Balance as of December 31, 2014 -  56.314  -  -  -  -  56.314 

              
Balance as of January 1, 2015 -  56.314  -  -  -  -  56.314 

Depreciation for the year -  4.065  -  -  -  -  4.065 
Impairment loss during the year -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
(Release of impairment loss during the year) -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
(Disposal and write off) -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Balance as of December 31, 2015 -  60.379  -  -  -  -  60.379 

              
Current carrying amount as of              
  January 1, 2014 (Previous year) -  14.529  -  -  -  -  14.529 

  December 31, 2014 (Previous year) -  7.746  -  12.913  -  -  20.659 

  December 31, 2015 (Current year) -  16.979  -  12.614  -  -  29.593 
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28. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 
 
B. Carrying amount of the intangible assets over which there is limited ownership and/or are pledged as collateral/pledge for bank’s liabilities  
 

In thousands of Denars 

Internally 
developed 
software  

Acquired software 
from external 

suppliers  

Other internally 
developed 

intangible assets 

 
Other intangible 

assets  

Investments in 
intangible assets 

under lease  Total 

            
Current carrying amount as of              
  December 31, 2014  -  -  -  -  -  - 
  December 31, 2015  -  -  -  -  -  - 
 
As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Bank’s intangible assets are free of any pledges and mortgages. 
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29. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT  

 
А. Reconciliation of the current carrying amount  
                   In thousands of Denars 

    Land  Buildings  
Investment 

Property 

 

Transport  

Furniture 
and office 
equipment 

 

 
Other 

equipment  

Other 
items of 

plant, 
property 

and 
equipment  

Property 
plant and 

equipment 
in 

preparation  

Investments 
in 

intangible 
assets 

under lease  Total 

                        
Cost                       

Balance as of January 1, 2014   193  328.661  12.612  12.372  101.785   39.824  10.129  -  -  505.576 

Increase   -  -  -  14.322  18.742   41.220  1.690  -  -  75.974 

Increase through business combinations   -  -  -  -  -   -  -  -  -  - 

(Disposal and write off)   -  -  -  (4.116)  (5.335)   (72)  -  -  -  (9.523) 
(Disposal through business 
combinations)   -  -  - 

 
-  - 

 
 -  -  -  -  - 

Transfer to non-current assets held for sale   -  -  -  -  -   -  -  -  -  - 

(Transfer from non-current assets held for sale)   -  -  -  -  -   -  -  -  -  - 

Other transfers   -  -  -  -  -   -  -  -  -  - 

Balance as of December 31, 2014   193  328.661  12.612  22.578  115.192   80.972  11.819  -  -  572.027 

                        

Balance as of January 1, 2015   193  328.661  12.612  22.578  115.192   80.972  11.819  -  -  572.027 

Increase   -  -  -  2.163  7.412   16.273  3.155  -  -  29.003 

Increase through business combinations   -  -  -  -  -   -  -  -  -  - 

(Disposal and write off)   -  -  -  -  (1.475)   (1.831)  (14)  -  -  (3.320) 
(Disposal through business 
combinations)   -  -  - 

 
-  - 

 
 -  -  -  -  - 

Transfer to non-current assets held for sale   -  -  -  -  -   -  -  -  -  - 

(Transfer from non-current assets held for sale)   -  -  -  -  -   -  -  -  -  - 

Other transfers   -  -  -  -  -   -  -  -  -  - 

Balance as of  December 31, 2015   193  328.661  12.612  24.741  121.129   95.414  14.960  -  -  597.710 
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29. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 

 
А. Reconciliation of the current carrying amount (Continued)  
                                  In thousands of Denars 

    Land  Buildings  
Investment 

Property 

 

Transport  

Furniture 
and office 
equipment  

Other 
equipment  

Other 
items of 

plant, 
property 

and 
equipment  

Property 
plant and 

equipment in 
preparation  

Investments 
in 

intangible 
assets 

under lease  Total 
Depreciation and impairment                      
Balance as of January1, 2014   -  75.344  3.690  12.372  85.325  32.110  5.947  -  -  214.788 

Depreciation for the year   -  8.109  316  2.846  8.797  5.408  3.427  -  -  28.903 
Impairment loss during the year   -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
(Release of impairment loss during 
the year)   -  -  - 

 
-  -  -  -  -  -  - 

(Disposal and write off)   -  -  -  (4.116)  (5.290)  (72)  -  -  -  (9.478) 
(Transfer to non-current assets held 
for sale)   -  -  - 

 
-  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Transfer from non-current assets held 
for sale   -  -  - 

 
-  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Other transfers   -  -    -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Balance as of December 31, 2014   -  83.453  4.006  11.102  88.832  37.446  9.374  -  -  234.213 

                       
Balance as of January1, 2015   -  83.453   4.006  11.102  88.832  37.446  9.374  -  -  234.213 

Depreciation for the year   -  8.110  316  4.968  9.309  8.897  4.742  -  -  36.342 
Impairment loss during the year   -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
(Release of impairment loss during 
the year)   -  -  - 

 
-  -  -  -  -  -  - 

(Disposal and write off)   -  -  -  -  (1.465)  (1.831)  (15)  -  -  (3.311) 
(Transfer to non-current assets held 
for sale)   -  -  - 

 
-  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Transfer from non-current assets held 
for sale   -  -  - 

 
-  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Other transfers   -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Balance as of December 31, 2015   -  91.563  4.322  16.070  96.676  44.512  14.101  -  -  267.244 
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29. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 

 
А. Reconciliation of the current carrying amount (Continued)  

 
                  In thousands of Denars 

    Land  Buildings  
Investment 

Property 

 

Transport  

Furniture 
and office 
equipment  

Other 
equipment  

Other 
items of 

plant, 
property 

and 
equipment  

Property 
plant and 

equipment in 
preparation  

Investments 
in 

intangible 
assets 

under lease  Total 
Current carrying amount as of                      
  January 1, 2014 (Previous year)   193  253.317  8.922  -  16.460  7.714  4.182  -  -  290.788 

  December 31, 2014 (Previous year)  193  245.208  8.606  11.476  26.360  43.526  2.445  -  -  337.814 

  December 31, 2015 (Current year)  193  237.098  8.290  8.671  24.453  50.902  859  -  -  330.466 

 
 

B. Carrying amount of the items of property, plant and equipment over which there is limited ownership and/or are pledged as collateral/pledge for bank’s 
liabilities 

 
                  In thousands of Denars 

    Land  Buildings  
Investment 

Property 

 

Transport  

Furniture 
and office 
equipment  

Other 
equipment  

Other 
items of 

plant, 
property 

and 
equipment  

Property 
plant and 

equipment in 
preparation  

Investments 
in intangible 

assets 
under lease  Total 

Current carrying amount as of                      
  December 31, 2014   -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

  December 31, 2015   -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
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30. CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
 
30.1 Current tax assets and current tax liabilities 

 

Current 
year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

    
Current income tax receivables -  4.407 
Current income tax liabilities 5.229  - 

 
 
 
30.2 Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities 

 
А. Recognized deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities  
 

In thousands of Denars 

  December 31, 2015  December 31, 2014 

     

  

Deferred 
tax assets  

Deferred 
tax 

liabilities  
 

Net basis  
Deferred 

tax assets  

Deferred 
tax 

liabilities  
 

Net basis 

             

Derivative assets held for risk management  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Loans and advances to banks  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Loans and advances to other customers  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Investments in securities  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Intangible assets  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Property, plant and equipment  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Other receivables  -  -  -  -  -  - 
             
Derivative liabilities held for risk 
management  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Other liabilities  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Unused tax losses and unused tax credits  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Other  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Deferred tax assets/liabilities recognized 
in the Income statement  -  -  -  -  -  - 
             
Investments in financial assets available-
for-sale  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Cash flow risk protection  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Deferred tax assets/liabilities recognized 
in equity  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Total recognized deferred tax 
assets/liabilities  -  -  -  -  -  - 

 
 
Б. Unrecognized deferred tax assets 

In thousands of Denars 

 

Current  
year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

    
Tax losses -  - 
Tax credits -  - 

    
Total unrecognized deferred tax assets -  - 
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30. CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (Continued) 
 
30.2 Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities (Continued) 

 
В. Reconciliation of the movement of deferred tax assets and tax liabilities during the year 
 

     In thousands of Denars 

 
As at 1 

January  

Recognized 
in income 
statement  

Recognized 
in equity  

As at 31 
December 

Previous year 2014        

Derivative assets held for risk management -  -    - 
Loans and advances to banks -  -    - 
Loans and advances to other customers -  -    - 
Investments in securities -  -    - 
Intangible assets -  -    - 
Property and equipment -  -    - 
Other receivables -  -    - 
        
Derivative liabilities held for risk management -  -    - 
Other liabilities -  -    - 
Unused tax losses and unused tax credits -  -    - 
Other -  -    - 
Investments in financial assets available-for-sale -    -  - 
Cash flow risk mitigation -    -  - 

Total recognized deferred tax assets/ liabilities -  -  -  - 
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30. CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (Continued) 
 
30.2 Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities (Continued) 
 
В. Reconciliation of the movement of deferred tax assets and tax liabilities during the year 

(Continued) 
 

     In thousands of Denars 

 
As at 1 

January  

Recognized 
in income 
statement  

Recognized 
in equity  

As at 31 
December 

Current year 2015        

Derivative assets held for risk management -  -    - 
Loans and advances to banks -  -    - 
Loans and advances to other customers -  -    - 
Investments in securities -  -    - 
Intangible assets -  -    - 
Property and equipment -  -    - 
Other receivables -  -    - 
        
Derivative liabilities held for risk management -  -    - 
Other liabilities -  -    - 
Unused tax losses and unused tax credits -  -    - 
Other -  -    - 
Investments in financial assets available-for-sale -    -  - 
Cash flow risk mitigation -    -  - 

Total recognized deferred tax assets/ liabilities -  -  -  - 

 
 
31. NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD-FOR-SALE AND DISPOSAL GROUP 
 
А. Non-current assets held-for-sale  

In thousands of Denars 

 

Current 
 year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

    
Intangible assets -  - 
Property and equipment -  - 

    
Total non-current assets held-for-sale -  - 
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31. NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD-FOR-SALE AND DISPOSAL GROUP (Continued) 
 
B. Disposal group  

In thousands of Denars 

 

Current  
year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

Group of assets for disposal    
Financial assets  -  - 
Intangible assets -  - 
Property, plant and equipment  -  - 
Investment in associates  -  - 
Income tax receivables  -  - 
Other assets -  - 

Total group of assets for disposal -  - 
    
Liabilities directly related to group of assets for disposal    
Financial liabilities -  - 
Special reserve -  - 
Income tax liabilities -  - 
Other liabilities -  - 

Total liabilities directly related to the group of assets for disposal -  - 

 
C. Profit/ (loss) recognized from the sale of assets held-for-sale and disposal group 
 

In thousands of Denars 

 

Current  
year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

    
Profit/(loss) recognized from the sale of assets held-for-sale and 
disposal group -  - 
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32. TRADING LIABILITIES 
In thousands of Denars 

 

Current  
year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

Due to banks    
Current accounts, sight  deposits and overnight -  - 
Time deposits -  - 
Other deposits -  - 

 -  - 
Due to other customer    

Current accounts, sight  deposits and overnight -  - 
Time deposits -  - 
Other deposits -  - 

 -  - 
Issued debt securities    

Money market instruments -  - 
Deposit certificates -  - 
Issued bonds -  - 
Other  -  - 

 -  - 
    
Other financial liabilities -  - 
    
Trading derivatives    

Contracts dependent on the interest rate change -  - 
Contracts dependent on the exchange rate change -  - 
Contracts dependent on the price of securities -  - 
Other contracts that meet the criteria of IAS 39 -  - 

    
Total trade liabilities -  - 
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33. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES CARRIED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT AND LOSS UPON INITIAL 
RECOGNITION 
     In thousands of Denars 
 Current year 2015  Previous year 2014 

 

 
Current 
carrying 
amount  

Contractual 
value, paid at 

maturity  

Current 
carrying 
amount  

Contractual 
value, paid at 

maturity 

Due to banks        

Current accounts, sight  deposits and 
overnight -  -  -  - 
Time deposits -  -  -  - 
Other deposits -  -  -  - 

 -  -  -  - 
Due to other customer        

Current accounts, sight  deposits and 
overnight -  -  -  - 
Time deposits -  -  -  - 
Other deposits -  -  -  - 

 -  -  -  - 
Issued debt securities        

Money market instruments -  -  -  - 
Deposit certificates -  -  -  - 
Issued bonds -  -  -  - 
Other  -  -  -  - 

 -  -  -  - 
Subordinated debt -  -  -  - 
Other  liabilities -  -  -  - 

Total financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit and loss designated as 
such upon initial recognition  -  -  -  - 
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34. DEPOSITS  

 
34.1 DEPOSITS FROM BANKS  

     In thousands of Denars 
 Current year 2015  Previous year 2014 

 Short-term  Long- term  Short-term  Long- term 

        

Current accounts        

    domestic banks 2.555  -  19.259  - 
    foreign banks 2.092  -  446  - 
Demand deposits        

    domestic banks 171  -  171  - 
    foreign banks -  -  -  - 
Time deposits        
    domestic banks 30.797  -  67.630  - 
    foreign banks 307.974  -  1.168.147  - 
Restricted deposits        

    domestic banks -  -  -  - 
    foreign banks -  -  -  - 
Other deposits        

    domestic banks -  -  -  - 
    foreign banks -  -  -  - 
Interest payable on deposits        

    domestic banks -  -  -  - 
    foreign banks 7  -  61  - 
Current maturity -  -  -  - 

        
Total deposits from banks 343.596  -  1.255.714  - 
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34. DEPOSITS (Continued) 
 
34.2 DEPOSITS FROM OTHER CUSTOMERS  

     In thousands of Denars 
 Current year 2015  Previous year 2014 

 Short-term  Long- term  Short-term  Long- term 

Non-financial entities        
  Current accounts 3.755.482  -  2.402.182  - 
  Demand deposits -  -  -  - 
  Time deposits 568.539  652.687  437.371  157.691 
  Restricted deposits 60.840  254.464  85.229  212.254 
  Other deposits -  -  -  - 
  Interest payable on deposits 8.485  -  7.461  - 

 4.393.346  907.151  2.932.243  369.945 

Government        
  Current accounts -  -  -  - 
  Demand deposits -  -  -  - 
  Time deposits -  -  -  - 
  Restricted deposits -  -  -  - 
  Other deposits -  -  -  - 
  Interest payable on deposits -  -  -  - 

 -  -  -  - 

Not-for-profit organizations that serve 
   to households        
  Current accounts 49.877  -  40.128  - 
  Demand deposits  -  -  -  - 
  Time deposits 40  -  7.240  - 
  Restricted deposits -  87  -  6.526 
  Other deposits -  -  -  - 
  Interest payable on deposits -  -  153  - 

 49.917  87  47.521  6.526 

Financial institutions, except banks         
  Current accounts 65.486  -  62.705  - 
  Demand deposits -  -  -  - 
  Time deposits 124.318  132.423  229.420  107.420 
  Restricted deposits -  -  -  - 
  Other deposits -  -  -  - 
  Interest payable on deposits 2.617  -  5.483  - 

 192.421  132.423  297.608  107.420 

Households        
  Current accounts 2.070.878  -  1.441.611  - 
  Demand deposits 55.728  -  71.504  - 
  Time deposits 1.794.354  1.628.453  1.766.702  1.724.283 
  Restricted deposits 28.823  274.541  15.066  269.698 
  Other deposits -  -  -  - 
  Interest payable on deposits 47.803  -  62.205  - 

 3.997.586  1.902.994  3.357.088  1.993.981 

Foreign entities, except banks        
  Current accounts 232.360  -  138.192  - 
  Demand deposits -  -  -  - 
  Time deposits 132.509  19.913  231.982  3.689 
  Restricted deposits 411  1.324  -  1.322 
  Other deposits -  -  -  - 
  Interest payable on deposits 4.307  -  3.598  - 

 369.587  21.237  373.772  5.011 

 9.002.857  2.963.892  7.008.232  2.482.883 

Current maturity 853.884  (853.884)  1.246.527  (1.246.527) 

Total deposits from other customers  9.856.741  2.110.008  8.254.759  1.236.356 
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35. DEBT INSTRUMENTS ISSUED 
In thousands of Denars 

 

Current  
year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

    
Money market instruments -  - 
Deposit certificates -  - 
Issued bonds -  - 
Other -  - 
Interest payable on securities issued -  - 

    
Total issued debt securities -  - 
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36. BORROWINGS  
 
А. Borrowings structure according to liability type and creditor’s sector 

     In thousands of Denars 
 Current year 2015  Previous year 2014 

 Short-term  Long- term  Short-term  Long- term 

Banks        
   Residents        
     Loans payable -  867.014  -  1.051.797 
     Repo- transactions -  -  -  - 
     Interest payables 1.610  -  1.936  - 
   Non residents        
     Loans payable -  745.176  -  813.251 
     Repo- transactions -  -  -  - 
     Interest payables 1.573  -  2.410  - 
Non-financial entities        
     Loans payable -  -  -  - 
     Repo- transactions -  -  -  - 
     Interest payables -  -  -  - 
Government        
     Loans payable -  -  -  - 
     Repo- transactions -  -  -  - 
     Interest payables -  -  -  - 
Not-for-profit institutions that serve to 

households        
     Loans payable -  -  -  - 
     Interest payables -  -  -  - 
Financial entities, other than banks        
     Loans payable -  -  -  - 
     Repo- transactions -  -  -  - 
     Interest payables -  -  -  - 
Nonresidents, except for banks        
     Non- financial entities        
     Loans payable -  -  -  - 
Repo- transactions -  -  -  - 
     Interest payables -  -  -  - 
Government        
     Loans payable -  -  -  - 
Repo- transactions -  -  -  - 
     Interest payables -  -  -  - 
Not-for-profit institutions that serve 
   to households        
     Loans payable -  -  -  - 
     Repo- transactions -  -  -  - 
     Interest payables -  -  -  - 
Financial entities, other than banks        
     Loans payable -  -  -  - 
     Repo- transactions -  -  -  - 
     Interest payables -  -  -  - 
Households        
     Loans payable -  -  -  - 
     Interest payables -  -  -  - 

        
Current maturity 340.402  (340.402)  383.830  (383.830)  

        
Total loans payable 343.585  1.271.788  388.176  1.481.218 

 



SPARKASE BANKA MAKEDONIJA AD Skopje 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2015 

Translation of the financial statements issued in the Macedonian language. 
122 

36. BORROWINGS (Continued) 
 

B. Borrowings according to the creditor 
     In thousands of Denars 
 Current year 2015  Previous year 2014 

 Short-term  Long- term  Short-term  Long- term 

Domestic sources:        

Comercial Banks 6  -  15  - 
Macedonian Bank for Development 
Promotion (MBDP) 1.604  866.585  1.920  1.051.166 
National Bank of the Republic of 
Macedonia -  429  1  632 

 1.610  867.014  1.936  1.051.798 
Foreign sources:        
European Bank for Reconstruction and 
Development (EBRD) 1.573  175.985  2.410  237.142 
Steiermärkische Bank und Sparkassen 
AG -  569.191  -  576.108 

 1.573  745.176  2.410  813.250 

Current maturity 340.402  (340.402)  383.830  (383.830) 

        
Total loans payable 343.585  1.271.788  388.176  1.481.218 

 
Borrowings from the parent company Steiermärkische Bank und Sparkassen AG in the amount of Denar 
569.191 thousand include borrowing in the amount of Denar 276.616 thousand and borrowing in the 
amount of Denars 292.575 thousand, with maturity up to June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2023, and 
bear interest at the rate of 2,250% and 2,696%, respectively. The weighted interest rate is 2,48%. These 
borrowings are intended for financing of the private sector. 
 
Other significant long-term borrowings represent the credit lines, financed in cooperation with the 
Macedonian Bank for Development Promotion: 
- IFAD program for agricultural development and food production in the amount of Denar 211,668 

thousand with interest rate of 0,70% and maturity to April 15, 2035; 
- IFAD program for agricultural development and food production in the amount of  Denar 43,923 

thousand with interest rate of 0.50%, revolving credit lines; 
- European Investment Bank in the amount of Denar 351,753 thousand with an interest rate of 1% 

and a maturity until October 15, 2020; 
- European Investment Bank in the amount of Denar 252,565 thousand with an interest rate of 1% 

and a maturity to April 15, 2023; 
- European Investment Bank amounting to Denar 7,349 thousand with an interest rate of 1% and a 

maturity until April 15, 2017; 
- Development of Small and Medium Enterprises in the amount of Denar 931 thousand with interest 

rate of 3,5% and maturity to January 15, 2016. 
  
Long-term borrowings financed in cooperation with European bank for reconstruction and development 
(EBRD) are as follows: 
- Denar 17,775 thousand with maturity up to January 10, 2016 and interest rate of 6M Euribor +1,8%;  
- Denar 159,803 thousand with maturity up to July 10, 2018 and interest rate of 6M Euribor + 1,8%. 
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37. SUBORDINATED DEBT 
In thousands of Denars 

 

Current 
 year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

Subordinated deposit liabilities    
(List separately) -  - 
Interest payables -  - 

 -  - 

Subordinated loan liabilities    
(List separately)    
Steiermärkische Bank und Sparkassen AG 1.016.313  1.014.443 
Interest payables 4.767  5.001 

 1.021.080  1.019.444 
Subordinated debt on issued securities    
(List separately) -  - 
Interest payables -  - 

    
Redeemable preference shares -  - 

    
Total subordinated debt 1.021.080  1.019.444 

 

 
Subordinated debt amounting to Denar 1,021,080 thousand (2014: Denar 1,019,444 thousand) refers to 
two subordinated debts granted by the parent company, Steiermärkische Bank und Sparkassen AG, as 
of September 30, 2011 and June 28, 2013, in the initial amount of Euro 6,500 thousand and Euro 10,000 
thousand, respectively. Subordinated loan in the amount of Euros 6,000 thousand bears fixed interest at 
the rate of 1% p.a. and is fully due as of December 31, 2018. Subordinated loan in the amount of Euros 
10,000 thousand bears interest at the rate of 6 M EURIBOR+3% p.a. and is fully due as of March 31, 
2020.  
 
These funds are obtained in order to strengthen the guarantee capital of the Bank, creation of conditions 
for realization of projected goals of the Business Plan, enhancing the competitive position and market 
share of the Bank, its profitability, as well as increase of the Tier 2 capital adequacy ratio and other 
quantitative and qualitative indicators of the Bank. 
 
Interest is payable quarterly. It is mutually agreed with the creditor that the subordinated loan shall: 

 fully and readily available for covering the Bank’s risk and losses during the Bank’s operations; 

 not be covered by other type of collateral by the Bank or a person connected to  the Bank; 

 in the case of bankruptcy or liquidation of the Bank, the subordinated debt will be paid before 
settling the liabilities to the Bank’s shareholders; 

 not be used for claims and contingent liabilities of the Bank;  

 not be treated as deposit. 
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38. SPECIAL RESERVE AND PROVISIONS 
           In thousands of Denars 

 

Special 
reserve 
and off-
balance 
credit 

exposure  

Provisions 
for 

potential 
liabilities 
based on  
litigations  

Pension 
provisions 
and other 
employee 
benefits  

Restructur
ing 

provisions  

Provisions 
for 

adverse 
contracts  

 
 

Other 
provisions  Total 

              
Balance at January 1, 2014 82.353  37.245  10.980  -  -  -  130.578 

Additional provisions during the 
year 15.672  -  3.067  -  -  -  18.739 
(used provisions during the year) -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
(release of provisions during the 
year) (73.520)  -  -  -  -  -  (73.520) 

Balance at December 31, 2014 24.505  37.245  14.047  -  -  -  75.797 

              
Balance at January 1, 2015 24.505  37.245  14.047  -  -  -  75.797 

Additional provisions during the 
year 29.465  -  1.229  -  -  -  30.694 
(used provisions during the year) -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
(release of provisions during the 
year) (18.411)  -  (140)  -  -  -  (18.551) 

Balance at December 31, 2015 35.559  37.245  15.136  -  -  -  87.940 
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39. OTHER LIABILITIES 
In thousands of Denars 

 

Current  
year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

    

Trade payables 13.268  23.546 
Received advances 17.215  584 
Fee and commission liabilities 2.248  1.388 
Accrued expenses 52.536  41.261 
Deferred income from previous years -  - 
Short-term liabilities to employees -  - 
Short-term liabilities for employee benefits -  - 
Other (List separately liabilities more than 10% of the total other 
liabilities) -  - 
   Other 24.111  34.429 
   Suspense account for international payments 24.372  22.236 
  (Liabilities from deposits that secured loans) 17.680  17.649 

    
Total other liabilities 151.430  141.093 

 

 
40. SUBSCRIBED CAPITAL 

 
А. Subscribed capital 

 In Denars  Number of issued shares  

In thousands of 
Denars 

 
Nominal value 

per share  Ordinary shares  

Preference 
shares non- 
redeemable  

Total subscribed 
capital 

 
Ordinary 
Shares  

Preferenc
e shares 

non-
redeemab

le    
Current 

year 2015  
Previous 
year 2014  

Current 
year  
2015  

Previous 
year 2014  

Current year  
2015  

Previous 
year 2014 

                
Balance at January 1-
fully paid 2.670  -  622.762  622.762  -  -  1.662.775  1.662.775 
Subscribed shares 
during the year -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Realization of share 
option -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Division/ increase of 
nominal value per 
share -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Other changes during 
the year  
(specify in details): -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
  _________________ -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
  _________________ -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
  _________________ -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Balance at December 
31 – fully paid 2.670  -  622.762  622.762  -  -  1.662.775  1.662.775 
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40. SUBSCRIBED CAPITAL (Continued) 
 
B.1 Dividends  
 

Announced dividends and paid dividends by the Bank 
In thousands of Denars 

 

Current  
year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

    
Announced dividends and paid dividends for the year -  - 

 
In Denars 

 

Current  
year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

    
Dividend per ordinary share -  - 
Dividend per  preference share -  - 
 

B.2 Announced dividend after the balance sheet date (the liabilities for dividends are not shown in 
the Balance sheet) 

In thousands of Denars 

 

Current  
year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

    
Announced dividends after December 31 -  - 
 

In Denars 

 

Current  
year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

    
Dividend per ordinary share -  - 
Dividend per  preference share -  - 
 

C. Shareholders with more than 5% voting shares 
 

The structure of shareholders exceeding 5% of the issued voting capital as of December 31, 2015 and 
2014 officially announced and accepted by the Central Securities Depository of the Republic of 
Macedonia is as follows: 
 
 In thousands of Denars  In % 

 
Current  

year  
Previous 

year  
Current  

year  
Previous 

year 
 2015  2014  2015  2014 

Shareholder’s name 

Subscribed 
capital 

(nominal 
value)  

Subscribed 
capital 

(nominal 
value)  Voting right  Voting right 

        

        
Steiermärkische Bank und Sparkassen 
AG 1.658.388  1.658.388  99,74%  99,74% 

        
Total 1.658.388  1.658.388  99,74%  99,74% 
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40. SUBSCRIBED CAPITAL (Continued) 
 

Share premiums represent the difference between the nominal value and the realizable price of the 
shares. Share premium as of December 31, 2015 in the amount of Denar 861,619 thousand (2014: 
Denars 861,619 thousand) relate to two emissions of shares as of October 18, 2011 and February 7, 
2012. In each of the emissions 184,200 shares were issued, which increased the Bank's capital in the 
amount of 15,000,000 Euros per emission, or total amount of 30,000,000 Euros. 
 
 

41. EARNINGS PER SHARE  
 
А. Basic earnings per share 

In thousands of Denars 

 

Current  
year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

Net - Profit attributable to holders of ordinary shares     
Net - Profit for the year 65.626  27.801 
Dividends for not redeemable preference shares -  - 
Adjustments of Net - Profit attributable to holders of ordinary shares 
(list separately) -  - 
__________________________    
__________________________    

Net - Profit attributable to holders of ordinary shares 65.626  27.801 

 
Number of shares 

 

Current  
year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares    
Issued ordinary shares as of  January 1 622.762  622.762 
Effects of the changes in the number of ordinary shares during the year 
(List all events separately) -  - 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares as of December 31 622.762  622.762 

    
Basic earnings per share (in MKD) 105  45 

 

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the earnings of ordinary shareholders (after 
deducting the earnings after taxation of preference shareholders) with the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares issued throughout the year, including equity shares bought by the Bank.  
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41. EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued) 
 
B. Diluted earnings per share 
 

In thousands of Denars 

 

Current  
year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

Net - profit attributable to holders of ordinary shares (diluted)    
Net - profit for the year attributable to holders of ordinary shares 
(diluted) 65.626  27.801 
Adjustments to net profit attributable to holders of ordinary shares for 
the effects of all issued ordinary shares (list separately)    
____________________________________ -  - 

Net - Profit attributable to holders of ordinary shares (diluted) 65.626  27.801 

 
Number of shares 

 

Current  
year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) 622.762  622.762 
Issued ordinary shares as of 1 January -  - 
Effects of issuing potential ordinary shares (list separately) -  - 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) as of 
December 31 622.762  622.762 

    
Diluted earnings per share (in MKD) 105  45 
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42. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS 
 
42.1 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES  

In thousands of Denars 

 

Current  
year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

Unsecured payment guarantees    

   In Denar 263.153  148.235 
   In foreign currency 78.098  48.894 
   in Denar with foreign currency clause 3.629  18.627 
Unsecured performance guarantees    
   In Denar 171.587  258.639 
   In foreign currency -  - 
   in Denar with foreign currency clause 497.595  474.209 
Unsecured letter of credit    
   In Denar -  - 
   In foreign currency 76.560  85.409 
   in Denar with foreign currency clause -  - 
Unused overdraft on current accounts 128.181  89.560 
Foreclosed liabilities for crediting and unused credit limits 198.196  188.008 
Other unsecured contingent liabilities 1.218.033  784.569 
Issued secured guarantees 344.684  332.079 
Covered letter of credit -  4.895 
Other secured contingent liabilities   14.320  14.600 

Total contingent liabilities before special reserve 2.994.036  2.447.724 

(Special reserve) (35.559)  (24.505) 

    
Total contingent liabilities less special reserve 2.958.477  2.423.219 

 

Potential liabilities of the Bank include potential loan liabilities, potential letters of guarantee liabilities, 
potential letters of credit to legal entities and potential retail loan liabilities, transaction account limits and 
credit card limits. 
 
Total amount of contingent liabilities include covered and uncovered guarantees with maturity up to one 
year in the amount of Denar 477.977 thousand (2014: Denar 476.337 thousand). Covered and uncovered 
letters of credit have maturity up to 1 year (2014: 1 year). Unused overdrafts on current accounts are 
short-term liabilities. 
 
The potential liabilities on the basis of unused overdrafts on current accounts and unused limits on credit 
cards are unsecured and are revocable in case of deterioration in the creditworthiness of the borrower. 
Interest rates on current accounts and credit cards in 2015 range 6% to 10,5%. 
 
Contingent liabilities of the Bank to legal entities on the basis of guarantees and letters of credit are 
irrevocable. Unused credit limits granted to legal entities are subject to annual revision. Except covered 
guarantees and letters of credit secured by a deposit, the remaining uncovered guarantees and letters of 
credit and unused credit limits granted to legal entities are secured by pledge of property, movable 
property, guarantees etc. 
 
Litigations  

 

The Bank is involved in legal proceedings from its daily operations. Total litigation against the Bank as of 
December 31, 2015 amounts to Denar 414.942 thousand (2014: Denars 398.727 thousand). The Bank’s 
provision for impairment losses on litigation amounts to Denar 37.245 thousand (2014: Denar 37.245 
thousand) (Note 38). The Bank's management believes that the final outcome of the rest of the litigation 
will be resolved in favor of the Bank and that no material losses will arise in respect of these disputes. 
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42. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS (Continued) 
 
42.2 CONTINGENT ASSETS 

In thousands of Denars 

 

Current  
year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

List separately significant contingent assets:    
 -  - 

    
Total contingent assets -  - 

 
 
43. ACTIVITIES ON BEHALF OF THIRD PARTIES 

In thousands of Denars 

  Current year 2015  Previous year 2014 

  Assets  Liabilities  
Net- 

position  
 

Assets  Liabilities  
Net- 

position 

             
Asset administration on 
behalf and at the expense of 
third parties             

  Deposits in Denar  -  (14.381)  (14.381)  -  (25.751)  (25.751) 
  Deposits in foreign 

currencies  -  -  -  -  -  - 
  Loans in Denar  13.917  (277)  13.640  24.492  (759)  23.733 
  Loans in foreign currencies  235  -  235  501  -  501 
  Other receivables in Denar  -  (109)  (109)  -  (109)  (109) 
  Other receivables in foreign 

currencies  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Asset management on 
behalf and at the expense of 
third parties  -  -  -  -  -  - 

  Deposits in Denar  -  -  -  -  -  - 
  Deposits in foreign 
currencies  -  -  -  -  -  - 
  Loans in Denar   -  -  -  -  -  - 
  Loans in foreign 
currencies  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Other receivables in Denar  -  -  -  -  -  - 
 Other receivables in 
foreign currencies  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Trust accounts   -  -  -  -  -  - 
Other  -  -  -  -  -  - 

             
Total  14.152  (14.767)  (615)  24.993  (26.619)  (1.626) 
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44. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS 
 

Balances and volume of related party transactions and of Bank Management at the balance sheet date 
for the years ended on 31 December 2015 and 2014 are as follows: 

 
А. Balance sheet 
 

In thousands of Denars 

  

Parent 
Company  

Subsidia-
ries  

Associa- 
tes  

Manage-
ment of 

the Bank  

Other 
related 
parties  Total 

December 31, 2015             

Assets             

Current accounts  85.764  -  -  -  -  85.764 
Trading assets  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Loans and advances             

   Mortgage loans  -  -  -  4.149  -  4.149 
   Customer loans  -  -  -  3.371  -  3.371 

Finance lease receivables  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Factoring and forfeiting of 
receivables  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Other loans and 
advances  -  -  -  22.405  -  22.405 

Investments in securities  -  -  -  -  6.765        6.765 
(Allowance for impairment)  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Other assets  1.273  -  -  -  -  1.273 

Total  87.037  -  -  29.925  6.765  123.727 

             
Liabilities             

Trading liabilities  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Deposits  -  -  -  65.414  307.974  373.388 

Issued securities  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Borrowings liabilities  569.191  -  -  -  -  569.191 

Subordinated debt  1.021.080  -  -  -  -  1.021.080 

Other liabilities  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Total  1.590.271  -  -  65.414  307.974  1.963.659 

             
Contingent liabilities             

Issued guarantees  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Issued letter of credit  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Other contingent liabilities  307.974  -  -  5.294  -  313.268 
(Special reserves)    -  -  -  -  - 

Total  307.974  -  -  5.294  -  313.268 

             
Contingent assets             

Received guarantees  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Other contingent assets  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Total  -  -  -  -  -  - 
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44. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 
 
А. Balance sheet (Continued) 

In thousands of Denars 

  

Parent 
Company  

Subsidia- 
ries  

Associa-
tes  

Manage-
ment of 

the Bank  

Other 
related 
parties  Total 

December 31, 2014 
(Previous year)             

Assets             

Current accounts  136.364  -  -  -  -  136.364 
Trading assets  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Loans and advances  -  -  -  -  -  - 

   Mortgage loans  -  -  -  2.622  -  2.622 
   Customer loans  -  -  -  2.309  -  2.309 
Finance lease receivables  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Factoring and forfeiting of 
receivables  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Other loans and 
advances  -  -  -  20.321  114  20.435 

Investments in securities  -  -  -  -  6.765  6.765 
(Allowance for impairment)  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Other assets  8.408  -  -  -  11.807  20.215 

Total  144.772  -  -  25.252  18.686  188.710 

             
Liabilities             
Trading liabilities  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Deposits  1.168.208  -  -  49.934  185.313  1.403.455 
Issued securities  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Borrowings liabilities  576.108  -  -  -  -  576.108 
Subordinated debt  1.019.444  -  -  -  -  1.019.444 
Other liabilities  17.649  -  -  -  431  18.080 

Total  2.781.409  -  -  49.934  185.744  3.017.087 

             
Contingent liabilities             
Issued guarantees  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Issued letter of credit  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Other contingent liabilities  307.407  -  -  -  -  307.407 
(Special reserves)  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Total  307.407  -  -  -  -  307.407 

             
Contingent assets             
Received guarantees  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Other contingent assets  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Total  -  -  -  -  -  - 
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44. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 
 
B. Income and expenses from related parties’ transactions 
 

In thousands of Denars 

  

Parent 
Company  

Subsidiar
-ies  

Associa-
tes  

Manage-
ment of 

the Bank  

Other 
related 
parties  Total 

2015 Current year              

Income             
Interest income  743  -  -  3.202  4  3.949 
Fee and commission income  -  -  -  40  272  312 
Trading income, net  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Dividend income  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Capital gains from sale of 
non-current assets 

 
-  -  -  -  -  - 

Other income  -  -  -  -  1.330  1.330 
Transfers between subjects  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Total  743  -  -  3.242  1.606  5.591 

             
Expenses             
Interest expense  33.214  -  -  999  700  34.913 
Fee and commission 
expense 

 
3.138  -  -  -  -  3.138 

Trading losses, net  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Expenses for purchase of 
non-current assets 

 
-  -  -  -  -  - 

Allowance for impairment of 
financial assets, net 

 
-  -  -  -  -  - 

Other expenses  92  -  -  -  5.109  5.201 
Transfers between subjects  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Total  36.444  -  -  999  5.809  43.252 
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44. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 
 
B. Income and expenses from related parties’ transactions (Continued) 

In thousands of Denars 

  

Parent 
Company  

Subsidiari
es  

Associate
s  

Manage
ment of 

the Bank  

Other 
related 
parties  Total 

2014 Previous year             

Income             

Interest income  2.031  -  -  1.765  8  3.804 
Fee and commission income  -  -  -  108  130  238 
Trading income, net  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Dividend income  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Capital gains from sale of 
non-current assets 

 
-  -  -  -  -  - 

Other income  7.438  -  -  -  1.633  9.071 
Transfers between subjects  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Total  9.469  -  -  1.873  1.771  13.113 

             

Expenses             

Interest expense  39.084  -  -  1.113  660  40.857 
Fee and commission 
expense 

 
5.810  -  -  -  -  5.810 

Trading losses, net  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Expenses for purchase of 
non-current assets 

 
-  -  -  -  -  - 

Allowance for impairment of 
financial 
assets, net 

 

-  -  -  -  -  - 
Other expenses  -  -  -  -  22.303  22.303 
Transfers between subjects  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Total  44.894  -  -  1.113  22.963  68.970 

 
 

C. Management compensations 
In thousands of Denars 

 

Current 
 year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

    
Short-term employee benefits 52.861  50.966 
Post-employment benefits -  - 
Benefits due to termination of employment -  - 
Employee payment based on shares, settled with equity instruments -  - 
Employee payment based on shares, settled in cash  -  - 
Other -  - 

Total 52.861  50.966 
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44. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 

 
Pursuant to the Banking Law, the following parties shall be considered as related parties to the Bank: 
persons with special rights and responsibilities in the Bank and persons related to them; shareholders 
with qualified participation in the Bank (direct or indirect ownership of at least 5% of the total number of 
shares or of issued voting shares of the Bank, or shares that provide significant influence on the 
management of the Bank) and persons related to them, as well as responsible persons of those 
shareholders – legal entities; Bank's subsidiaries and other entities that have established close relations 
with the Bank. 
 
The Bank provides loans, performs payment and deposit operations to related companies and financial 
institutions. The Bank Management considers that these transactions are performed under standard 
market conditions and within its regular business. 
 

45. LEASES  

 
А. Lessor 
 
А.1 Financial leases receivables 

   In thousands of Denars 

   
Maturity period for financial lease 

receivables 

 

Total finance 
lease 

receivables  up to 1 year  1 to 5 years  over 5 years 

December 31, 2015 (Current year)        
Net present value of minimum lease 
payments -  -  -  - 

Total -  -  -  - 

        
December 31, 2014 (Previous year)        
Net present value of minimum lease 
payments -  -  -  - 

Total -  -  -  - 

 
А.2 Irrevocable operating lease receivables 

   In thousands of Denars 

   
Maturity period for operative lease 

receivables 

 

Total 
operating 

lease 
receivables  up to 1 year  1 to 5 years  over 5 years 

December 31, 2015 (Current year)        
Net present value of minimum lease 
payments -  -  -  - 

Total -  -  -  - 

        
December 31, 2014 (Previous year)        
Net present value of minimum lease 
payments -  -  -  - 

Total -  -  -  - 
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45. LEASES (Continued) 

 
А. Lessor (Continued) 
 
А.2 Irrevocable operating lease receivables (Continued) 

 

 Land  
Building

s  Vehicles  

Furniture 
and 

office 
equipme

nt  

Other 
equipme

nt  

Other 
items of 
property 

and  
equipme

nt  Total 

Value of property under 
operating lease:              
As of  December 31, 2015 
(Current year) -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

As of December 31, 2014 
(Previous year) -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

 
 

 
 

B. The Bank as Lessee 

 
B.1 Financial lease liabilities 

   In thousands of Denars 

   
Maturity period for finance lease 

liabilities 

 

Total 
financial 

lease 
liabilities  up to 1 year  1 to 5 years  

over 5 
years 

        
Balance as of December 31, 2015    
(Current year) -  -  -  - 
Total -  -  -  - 

        
Balance as of  December 31,  2014 
(Previous year) -  -  -  - 
Total -  -  -  - 
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45.  LEASES (Continued) 
 

B. The Bank as Lessee (Continued) 

 
B.1 Financial lease liabilities (Continued) 

 
           In thousands of Denars 

 Land  Buildings  Transport  

Furniture 
and office 
equipment  

Other 
equipment  

Other 
items of 

plant, 
property 

and 
equipment  Total 

Value of property under 
operating lease              
Cost              
Balance as of January 1, 2014 -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Additions -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
(Disposal and write- off) -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Other -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Balance as of December 31, 2014 -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

              
Balance as of January 1, 2015 -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Additions -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
(Disposal and write- off) -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Other -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Balance as of December 31, 2015 -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

              
Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment              
Balance as of January 1, 2014 -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Depreciation for the year -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Impairment loss during the year -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
(Release of impairment loss during 
the year) -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
(Disposal and write offs) -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Other -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Balance as of December 31, 2014 -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

              
Balance as of January 1, 2015 -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Depreciation for the year -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Impairment loss during the year -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
(Release of impairment loss during 
the year) -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
(Disposal and write offs) -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Other -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Balance as of December 31, 2015 -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

              
Carrying amount as of:              
January 1, 2014 -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

December 31, 2014 -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

December 31, 2015 -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
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45. LEASES (Continued) 
 

B. The Bank as Lessee (Continued) 

 
B.2 Irrevocable operating lease liabilities  

 
   In thousands of Denars 

   
Maturity period for operational lease 

liabilities 

 

Total 
operational 

lease 
liabilities  up to 1 year  1 to 5 years  over 5 years 

        

Balance as of December 31, 2015  
(Current year) -  -  -  - 

Total -  -  -  - 

        
Balance as of December 31, 2014 
(Previous year) -  -  -  - 

Total -  -  -  - 

 
 
46. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS 

 
In thousands of Denars 

 

Current  
year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

    
Date of granting of option -  - 
Date of option expiry -  - 
Price of option realization  -  - 
Share price on the date the option is granted -  - 
Variance -  - 
Expected dividend return -  - 
Interest rate -  - 
Fair value on the date the option is granted -  - 
 
 
   In thousands of Denars 

 Current year 2015  Previous year 2014 

 

Number of 
share 

options  

Weighted 
average 
price of 
share 

options  

Number of 
share 

options  

Weighted 
average 
price of 
share 

options 

        
Balance at January 1        
Changes during the year -  -  -  - 
  options granted to Supervisory Board 
members -  -  -  - 
  options granted to Board of Directors 
members -  -  -  - 
  Other granted options -  -  -  - 
  Forfeited options -  -  -  - 
  Realized options -  -  -  - 
  Options with expired date -  -  -  - 

Balance at December 31 -  -  -  - 
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47. TAX RISKS 
 

Financial statements and accounting records of the Bank are the subject to tax audit by tax authorities 
for a period of 5 years subsequent to the reported tax year, and may impose additional tax liabilities. 
According to the estimates by the Bank’s management there are no any additional circumstances that 
may arise to a potential liability in this respect.  

 
48. EVENTS AFTER THE DATE OF THE BALANCE SHEET 
 

Upon the Balance Sheet date no significant events occurred to be presented in the financial statements. 
 
49. EXCHANGE RATES 

 
Official exchange rates used in the translation of the balance sheet items denominated in foreign 
currencies were as follows: 
 

 
In Denars 

 

Current  
year  

Previous 
year 

 2015  2014 

    
1 USD 56,3744  50,5604 
1 EUR 61,5947  61,4814 
1 CHF 56,9583  51,1152 
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